ROLE OF HETEROCHROMATIN VARIATION IN THE LONGEVITY AND GENE EXPRESSION PROFILES OF HETEROCHROMATIC AND AGING-ASSOCIATED GENES IN D. MELANOGASTER

MOJTABA AHMADI

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

MASTER OF SCIENCE

GRADUATE PROGRAM IN BIOLOGY YORK UNIVERSITY TORONTO, ONTARIO

MAY 2022

© Mojtaba Ahmadi, 2022

ABSTRACT

Aging is a complex biological process that is accompanied by the progressive accumulation of deleterious changes that result in the demise of the cellular and tissues function over time, and the increased susceptibility to disease and death as we age. Among many age-associated chromatin modifications, loss of heterochromatin has been considered as a model of organismal aging. Heterochromatin domains established during embryogenesis are gradually lost with advancing age, causing genetic instability through de-repression of the silenced genes and aberrant changes in the pattern of gene expression in the cell.

Heterochromatin is a highly condensed structure of chromatin that remains compacted throughout the entire cell cycle, and largely consists of highly repetitive satellite DNA sequences and transposable elements. Early genetic studies suggested the lack of genetic loci within heterochromatin, but subsequent gene mapping studies provided evidence for the presence of heterochromatic genes which required the condensed structure of the heterochromatic environment for their normal function and showed variegated expression when they were displaced to the proximity of a euchromatic block. The spreading ability and the silencing effect of heterochromatin on the expression of the nearby genes play an important role in chromatin packaging and segregation, and genome stability.

In this thesis, the process of aging in animals, and its possible causes will be reviewed and then the model of heterochromatin loss in aging will be explored. This is followed by an extensive review of the literature on constitutive heterochromatin. Finally, the value of Drosophila heterochromatin in aging studies will be discussed. This study aimed to explore the effects of changes in heterochromatin levels on the process of aging in *D. melanogaster*. To do this, X/O and XXY karyotypes which lacked the Y chromosome and contained an extra copy of Y chromosome, respectively were first generated, and then their average lifespan relative to that of the normal XY males and XX females was measured. The entire Y chromosome in *D. melanogaster* is nearly heterochromatic and contains very few protein-coding genes that are only expressed in the male germline cells. My goal was to see if changing the heterochromatin levels would impact the longevity of these karyotypes.

Second, I investigated the expression profiles of the heterochromatic and aging-associated genes in relation to the removal or addition of Y chromosome in different karyotypes of the fruit fly models. Moreover, flies from Df(2R) MS2-10/CyO, S stock missing a portion of the pericentromeric heterochromatin from the right arm of chromosome 2 were generated to see whether the removal of a heterochromatic portion from a chromosome other than the Y chromosome will have the same effects on the relative expression profiles of the same genes as the Y chromosome deletion does. Based on our prediction, the removal of the Y chromosome from the nucleus of the *D. melanogaster* cells will induce an increase in the lifespan measurement and the overall expression levels of the heterochromatic and aging genes. The redistribution of heterochromatin components such as HP1 is predicted to result in the increased expression levels of these heterochromatic and aging genes. However, contrary to our predictions, we found the expression profiles of the heterochromatic and aging genes differentially varied between X/O vs XY males, and XX vs XXY females from 2-days $y^{1}/Dp(1;Y)B^{s}$ stock. In addition, the differential gene expression patterns were confirmed between the same karyotypes at 60 days, as well as between the Df(2R)Ms2-10/CyO, S males and females which carried a heterochromatic deletion from the right arm of chromosome 2.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Arthur J. Hilliker, for providing me the opportunity to pursue my MSc project in his lab. Through his support and guidance, I gained the knowledge, confidence, and invaluable skills to work independently.

I would also like to sincerely thank my supervisory committee, Dr. Joel Shore, for his support and helpful feedback.

I would like to thank my colleagues in the lab, Alexander Molnar and Alistair Coulthard, for always being helpful and kind with the different parts of the project and providing me with the flies food and stocks.

Finally, I would like to thank my wife for her encouraging words and being by my side.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	.iv
TABLE OF CONTENTS	V
LIST OF TABLES	vii
LIST OF FIGURES	.vii
I. INTRODUCTION	1
I.1 Definition of aging	1
I.2 Heterochromatin loss model of aging	3
I.3 Process of heterochromatin loss	4
I.4 Heterochromatin structure	5
I.5 Heterochromatin properties	7
I.6 Position effect variegation	8
I.6.1 Modifiers of PEV	9
I.6.2 Mechanisms of gene silencing by PEV	.11
I.7 Heterochromatin function	.13
I.7.1 Heterochromatin regulation of gene Silencing at transcriptional and	
post-transcriptional levels	.14
I.7.2 Heterochromatin and genome stability: protecting proper mitosis	.15
I.7.3 Heterochromatin prevents aberrant repeat recombination	16
I.8 Mechanisms of heterochromatin formation	.17
I.8.1 Histone modifications of heterochromatin	.17
I.8.2 Role of HP1 in heterochromatin assembly	.19
I.8.3 Role of transcription in heterochromatin assembly	.21
1.8.4 Mechanism of RNAi-mediated heterochromatin assembly	21
I.9 D. melanogaster as a Model of Heterochromatin and Aging	.26

II. RATIONALE, HYPOTHESES, AND OBJECTIVES
III. METHODOLOGY31
III.1 Drosophila stock preparation31
III.2 Drosophila crosses
III.3 Longevity test
III.4 Total RNA purification and quantification32
III.5 Quantitative reverse transcriptase PCR (qRT-PCR)32
III.6 Primers32
III.7 Post-qRT-PCR analysis and normalization
IV. RESULTS40
IV.1 Lifespan measurement of different karyotypes40
IV.2 Lifespan measurement of Df(2R)Ms2-10/CyO, S flies41
IV.3 Differential gene expression profiles of 2-days old karyotypes44
IV.4 Differential gene expression profiles of 60-days old karyotypes54
IV.5 Confirmation of differential gene expression profiles upon
heterochromatin removal58
V. DISCUSSION
VI. CONCLUSION AND PERSPECTIVES
REFERENCES73
In-text references73
Tables references

LIST OF TABLES

Table III.1: List of heterochromatic and aging genes and their corresponding
primers
Table IV.1: Comparison of gene expression levels in 2-days old
karyotypes52
Table IV.2: Comparison of gene expression levels among 60-days old
y1/Dp(1;Y)Bs karyotypes and 20-days old Df(2R)Ms2-10/CyO,
S vs ry5+ flies63

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure I.1: Mechanism of constitutive heterochromatin formation in fission
yeast
Figure III.1: Schematic representation of the D. melanogaster cross
Figure III.2: Longevity measurement of different karyotypes and Df(2R)Ms2-
10/CyO, S male and female flies43
Figure IV.1: Average relative mRNA levels of heterochromatic and aging
genes in 2-days old X/O and XY males48
Figure IV.2: Average relative mRNA levels of heterochromatic and aging
genes in 2-days old XX and XXY females51
Figure IV.3: Average relative mRNA levels of heterochromatic and aging
genes in 60-days old karyotypes57
Figure IV.4: Average relative gene expression profiles of heterochromatic and
aging genes in Df(2R)Ms2-10/CyO, S, and ry5+ flies62

I. INTRODUCTION

I.1 Definition of aging

Aging is a complex biological phenomenon that is accompanied by the progressive accumulation of deleterious changes that result in the demise of the cellular and tissues function over time, and the increased susceptibility to disease and death as we age (Harman, 2003). Aging is marked by a slow accumulation of damage to DNA and other macromolecules, and the subsequent decline in vital bodily functions such as regeneration and reproduction at various cellular and tissue levels (Harman, 2003). The aging process is also associated with the loss of homeostatic state and the reduced ability to withstand stress, injuries, and diseases, ultimately leading to death (Weinert and Timiras, 2003). Knight (1995) believes aging, regardless of how it is defined, will have the following criteria: "a progressive decrease in the efficiency and vigor of essentially all physiological functions; atrophy of most, if not all, organs and tissues; increased vulnerability to most malignant processes; and decreased V0₂ max".

The study of human diploid fibroblast cells in vitro allowed Hayflick and Moorhead (1961) to conclude that the limited lifespan of these cells was controlled by certain intrinsic mechanisms. This discovery developed the path for further aging studies at the cellular and molecular levels to uncover the underlying mechanisms that caused or were associated with the aging process (see review by Weinert and Timiras, 2003). These findings demonstrate the aging of an organism is linked to the cellular changes that accompany the aging process, how these changes contribute to the aging process, however, remains unclear. Over the past few decades, aging research studies have dramatically increased our knowledge of the key contributors to the aging process. As put

forth by Gavrilov and Gavrilova (2002), the tremendous number of facts obtained through aging studies requires a general theory of aging to successfully explain these facts in a form of knowledge.

However, findings from aging studies have raised many controversial theories on what factors cause aging and/or whether these factors are the actual causes of aging, or they are simply by-products of the aging process. As quoted by Medvedev (1990), more than 300 theories of aging have been proposed, but none of them are adequate as a single theory that could explain the ultimate biological and evolutionary cause(s) of aging (see minireview by Ashok and Ali, 1999). Gerontologists now agree that a combination of multiple theories should be used in conjunction to explain the underlying mechanisms of the aging process (Knight, 1995; Franceschi et al., 2000). This is because of the complex nature and multiple aspects of aging (Kowald and Kirkwood, 1996; Weinert and Timiras, 2003), the variable rate of progression of aging, and its phenotypic characteristics which are different in different species, different organisms of the same species, different tissues, and different cell types (reviewed by Rattan, 2006)

The theories of aging have been now classified into several categories to account for the mechanisms involved in aging. Generally, these theories can be divided into two broad categories: the programmed theories of aging, and the damage and error theories (Jin, 2010). The programmed theories suggest that aging is the manifestation of a biological clock that regulates the development and growth of organisms. This regulation occurs through specific patterns of gene expression in the nervous, endocrine, and immune systems which are responsible for the maintenance of homeostasis, defense, and repair responses. However, the damage and error theories posit that accumulation of damage induced by extrinsic factors, at different levels are the underlying causes of aging (Jin, 2010). The programmed theory of aging is further divided into sub-categories,

including the programmed longevity, the endocrine, and the immunological theories (Jin, 2010). The damage and error theories include the wear and tear theory, cross-linking theory, free radical theory, and the somatic DNA damage theory, to encompass different sub-categories.

I.2 Heterochromatin loss model of aging

Among many proposed theories of aging, chromatin changes are also associated with the senescent phenotype of old age (reviewed by Benayoun et al., 2015). Among many age-related chromatin modifications, loss of heterochromatin has been considered as a model of organismal aging. This concept was first proposed by Villeponteau (1997) who claimed that heterochromatin domains established during embryogenesis are gradually lost with advancing age. He believed the loss of these heterochromatic domains causes genetic instability through de-repression (activation) of silenced genes, nuclear disorganization, and aberrant changes in the pattern of gene expression in the cell.

The loss of heterochromatin was first noted in patients with premature aging diseases. For instance, mutations in nuclear membrane-associated protein lamin A, seen in Hutchinson-Gilford Progeria and the Atypical Werner Helicase syndromes which mimic premature aging disease, are associated with the loss of the markers involved in heterochromatin formation such as H3K9me3 and HP1 protein (Scaffidi and Misteli, 2005; Schotta et al., 2002). Similarly, loss of heterochromatin markers is also seen in elderly individuals, indicating the association of heterochromatin loss with the normal aging process (Zhang et al., 2015). Moreover, genetic studies of aging in Drosophila and *C. elegans* have also revealed loss of heterochromatin in aging (Brandt et al. 2008; Haithcock et al., 2005). Further studies have shown that the overexpression of the heterochromatin-associated protein HP1 in fruit flies increases lifespan while HP1 knock-out

negatively affects the longevity of flies (Larson et al., 2012). Similarly, Sir4 is a heterochromatic protein that interacts with Sir2 and Sir3 to repress genes near telomeres in yeast in a similar fashion to the position-effect variegation (PEV) in Drosophila. Studies show this silencing effect of Sir4 decreases as the cells age, indicating that the loss of Sir-mediated silencing effect due to the loss of heterochromatin happens with aging (Kim et al., 1996). However, it is unclear how the loss or redistribution of heterochromatin within chromatin structure causes or contributes to age-associated changes at the tissue and organ-system levels.

I.3 Process of heterochromatin loss

As speculated by Villeponteau (1997), euchromatic domains and heterochromatic domains, which are established during embryogenesis, are needed throughout the lifespan because they maintain a stable regulatory pattern of gene expression that gives rise to cell lineage differentiation and tissue development. The heterochromatin loss model of aging assumes that the more compacted structure of heterochromatic domains tends to convert to the more relaxed (less condensed) euchromatic structure. This decay of the heterochromatic domains coupled with their need to be regenerated each time the DNA is repaired or replicated subjects them to the heterochromatin loss (Villeponteau, 1997). In addition, heterochromatin loss can lead to incremental changes in the transcription of a protein or a regulatory element that is located at the periphery of the heterochromatin domain. This change in turn leads to a positive feedback mechanism that generates an incremental gradual loss of heterochromatin. The heterochromatin loss model of aging also predicts that heterochromatin loss leads to shortening of the heterochromatic domains. Every cycle of gradual increase in heterochromatic domain shortening results in incremental changes in the expression of age-related genes that are located at the periphery of the heterochromatic domain. Therefore, DNA damage or cell division can generate

many dramatic changes in the expression of many genes localized at the periphery of the heterochromatin domain (Villeponteau, 1997). Therefore, heterochromatin shortening has been proposed as a key regulator of the aging process.

I.4 Heterochromatin structure

Heterochromatin largely consists of highly repetitive satellite DNA sequences and middle repetitive sequences of transposable elements (Lohe et al., 1993) and accounts for about 1/3 of the entire genome in the male and 1/4 in the female *Drosophila melanogaster* (D. melanogaster) flies (Adams et al., 2000). Heterochromatin is a chromatin structure found in the nucleus of all higher eukaryotic cells. It was first described by the cytological work of Emil Heitz (1928) which was based on the differences in the compaction levels of chromosomes stained with carmine acetic acid during the interphase of the mitosis. Heterochromatin is a highly condensed form of chromatin that remains compacted throughout the entire cell cycle. This contrasts with the euchromatin which forms a condensed structure of chromatin only during cell division (Heitz, 1928). In addition, heterochromatin is transcriptionally less accessible due to its highly condensed and highly organized structure in nucleosomal arrays. This differs from euchromatin which is generally less condensed and more accessible to transcriptional factors (Huisinga et al., 2006). The observation of heterochromatin in the Polytene chromosomes of *Drosophila* led Heitz to conclude that the structure of the chromosome is discontinuous and differs along the length of the chromosome.

Around the same time, Hans Muller noted that chromosome rearrangements placing the euchromatic *white* gene in the proximity of a heterochromatic block led to a variegated expression of the gene, with some patches of red and some patches of white facets in the eye (see review by Eissenberg and Hilliker, 2000). This phenomenon called position effect-variegation was first noted

in *Drosophila* and caused the flies carrying the chromosome rearrangement to show a mosaic pattern of the wild-type and the mutant phenotypes due to the variegated expression of the gene in some cells and its inactivation in the others (reviewed by Eissenberg and Hilliker, 2000). Genetic mapping studies further proved that the genes closer to heterochromatin were silenced first followed by the inactivation of more distal genes (Demerec and Slizynska, 1937; Schultz, 1936). This idea gave rise to the important finding that heterochromatin propagates its silencing effect in a linear fashion along the length of the chromosome.

Early genetic studies by Heitz (1928) established the notion that heterochromatin lacked any active genetic loci and, therefore, was of little interest to geneticists. However, subsequent gene mapping studies proved the notion to be wrong by showing that the *rolled* and *light* genes were located within the heterochromatin (Hilliker and Holm, 1975). In addition, using a series of overlapping deficiencies generated by the detachment of compound autosomal chromosomes to genetically map the loci of some genes in the proximal heterochromatic region of chromosome 2 allowed Hilliker and Holm (1975) to provide evidence for the existence of genes within heterochromatin. Further analysis of the ethyl-methanesulphonate (EMS)-induced recessive lethals of the 2L and 2R proximal deficiencies associated with the detached compound chromosomes led Hilliker (1976) to discover the existence of seven genetic loci in the 2L and six genes in the 2R heterochromatin. Furthermore, analysis of the ribosomal DNA (rDNA), a vital heterochromatic gene on the X chromosome in *Drosophila*, showed that this region is intrinsically heterochromatic and retains its heterochromatic properties in the absence of the flanking heterochromatic region (reviewed by Hilliker and Apples, 1982).

Further studies on position effect variegation of heterochromatic genes demonstrated that heterochromatic genes required the condensed structure of the heterochromatic environment for their normal function and were transcriptionally silenced in a variegated fashion when they were displaced to the proximity of a euchromatic block (Eissenberg and Hilliker, 2000). For example, the function of the *rolled* (*rl*) gene, which is a heterochromatic gene located in 2R chromosome, was severely compromised when it was relocated to different positions in the euchromatic region through successive chromosomal rearrangements (Eberl et al., 1993). Subsequent studies showed reduced expression of the heterochromatic genes *rolled* and *light* in larvae when the Su(var)2-5 gene encoding HP1 was mutated, demonstrating the essential role of the heterochromatin protein HP1 for the normal expression of the heterochromatic genes (Lu et al., 2000). Further genetic and molecular analysis including RNA interference lines to knock down gene expression provided evidence for the existence of some novel essential genes on the right arm of chromosome 2 (2R) and left arm of chromosome 3 (3L) (Coulthard et al., 2010; Syrzycka et al., 2019).

I.5 Heterochromatin properties

Heterochromatin possesses two important characteristics: the ability to spread across chromatin and the silencing effect on the gene expression of the nearby sequences. The silencing effect is due to the ability of heterochromatin to spread across regions of DNA in a sequence-independent manner and cause the inactivation of the nearby genes. This phenomenon is best observed in the inactivation of X-chromosome in mammalian females, a process in which heterochromatin regulates gene dosage compensation by silencing almost the entire X-chromosome (Boumil and Lee, 2001). The propagation of the silencing effect allows heterochromatin to play an important role in chromatin packaging and segregation, and to be essential for genome stability. As discussed by Larson et al. (2012), it has been shown in Drosophila that heterochromatin is essential for genome stability as it suppresses illegitimate recombination of the repetitive DNA sequences, especially at the rDNA locus. Studies suggest the

evolutionary advantage of heterochromatin silencing at the sites of transposable elements is to regulate these elements (Hall and Grewal, 2003). The other characteristics of heterochromatin as compared to that of euchromatin include low gene density, late replication during S-phase, and decreased frequency of meiotic recombination (review by Hilliker et al., 1980). Heterochromatin also has relative plasticity, a term used to describe the reduced level of heterochromatin in certain somatic tissues when there is an upregulation of heterochromatin in the germline of some organisms (see review by Gatti and Pimpinelli, 1992).

One class of heterochromatin called constitutive heterochromatin includes a highly repetitive sequence "satellite" DNA in long tandem arrays which are found near the centromeres (reviewed by Hilliker and Apples, 1989). The other class of heterochromatin called facultative heterochromatin is a euchromatic region that becomes heterochromatinized during a specific developmental stage, or in certain cell types (Brown, 1966). This study focuses on constitutive heterochromatin and will refer to it as heterochromatin for simplicity from now on. The repeat sequences of pericentric heterochromatin, unlike telomers, could differ between different organisms or among members of the same species. In addition, these pericentric regions need to be tightly regulated because chromosomal rearrangements involving the pericentric regions causing malfunctioning of heterochromatin have been linked to abnormalities such as cancer (reviewed by Saksouk et al., 2015). This implies the importance of the pericentric heterochromatin modifications through epigenetic means.

I.6 Position effect variegation

Position effect variegation (PEV) refers to the silencing ability of heterochromatin when chromosomal rearrangements or transposition place a euchromatic gene into the proximity of a heterochromatic block. The euchromatic gene is completely repressed in some cells that normally express the gene and is partially inactivated in some other cells, a condition that leads to the variegated expression pattern of the gene (Weiler and Wakimoto, 1995). PEV was first discovered in *Drosophila* when the inversion of the *white*⁺ gene that produces red-eye pigmentation placed the gene near the centromeric heterochromatin. This inversion resulted in the variegated eye bearing some patches of white and some patches of red facets (reviewed by Wallrath, 1998). In addition, PEV is also observed with some heterochromatic genes when they are rearranged in the juxtaposition of a euchromatic block. This was shown by inversion of the lt^+ gene which showed a variegating expression pattern when it was removed from the heterochromatin into distal euchromatin. This observation raised the hypothesis that heterochromatic genes required the heterochromatin environment for their proper expression (Schultz and Dobzhansky, 1934). This observation was supported by further studies which revealed that the rearrangements that placed the lt^+ gene in smaller blocks of the displaced heterochromatin resulted in lower expression of the lt^+ , showing that reducing heterochromatin amount reduces the expression of the gene (Hessler, 1958; Wakimoto and Hearn, 1990). A general explanation for the PEV of euchromatic genes considers the spreading of a complex containing the heterochromatin-associated proteins Su(var)3-7, HP1 proteins, and Su(var)3-9 methyltransferases from the euchromatin-heterochromatin border into the adjacent euchromatin that contains the variegated gene, therefore exerting their silencing effect on the euchromatic gene near the border (reviewed by Gatti and Pimpinelli, 1992; Elgin and Reuter, 2013). However, the mechanisms of gene inactivation by PEV and maintenance of the inactive state have not been fully understood yet.

I.6.1 Modifiers of PEV

Genetic screens have identified mutations in about 150 loci that affect gene silencing by centromeric heterochromatin. These mutations are either suppressors (Su(var) or SUV) of PEV which result in the loss of silencing or enhancers (E(var)) of PEV which increase the silencing effect (Weiler and Wakimoto, 1995). These PEV modifiers are usually either chromatin structural proteins or the modifiers of these structural proteins, and the DNA-replication factors which regulate chromatin formation indirectly (Wallrath, 1998). For example, heterochromatin protein 1 (HP1) and Su(var)3-7 (SUV37) are the structural building blocks of heterochromatin. Defects in either protein lead to the suppression of PEV. For the modifiers of structural proteins, the origin of replication complex (ORC) is a multi-subunit factor that recruits silencing factors such as SIR1 to the mating-type loci in saccharomyces cerevisiae (S. cerevisiae). Mutation in ORC2, a subunit of ORC in Drosophila that is recruited to heterochromatin, leads to suppression of PEV (reviewed by Wallrath, 1998). A few of these modifiers have also a dosage-dependent effect on PEV, meaning that one copy of the gene suppresses PEV whereas three copies enhance suppression. The proteins encoded by such genes impact heterochromatin spreading in a dosage-dependent manner (Locke et al. 1988). HP1 is an example of dosage-dependent modifiers of PEV that is found in pericentric heterochromatin, at telomeres, and the different sites of euchromatic regions (reviewed by Grewal and Elgin, 2002). HP1 is encoded by Su(var)2-5 gene and causes variegation of both euchromatic and heterochromatic genes in a dosage-dependent manner. Mutation of this gene increases expression of a variegating gene such as white gene placed inside a heterochromatic block while three copies of the Su(var)2-5 reduces expression of the gene.

However, studies have demonstrated that in addition to providing a platform for silencing factors, HP1/Swi6 also mediates the recruitment of transcriptional activating factors that promote accessibility of Poll II and transcription of heterochromatic repeats (Zofall and Grewal, 2006). For

example, heterochromatic genes *rolled* and *light* require both HP1 and heterochromatin for their full expression (Eberl et al., 1995). The mechanism of HP1-mediated gene activation is not clear, but it is predicted that the balance between silencing factors and transcriptional activators that are recruited by HP1/Swi6 determine the transcriptional activity of a heterochromatic gene. Heterochromatin proteins recruited to the transcribed genes might also recruit HDACs and nucleosome-remodeling factors that are required to re-establish the heterochromatin structure after transcription to prevent spurious transcription of cryptic start sites (Grewal and Jia, 2007). However, heterochromatin spreading is a complex process that requires the organization of different factors within the silenced region in addition to the adjacent heterochromatin mass. In addition, histone modification also regulates chromatin formation and impacts PEV. Increased levels of histone acetylation are generally predicted to be associated with increased transcriptional activity and therefore suppression of PEV (Grewal and Jia, 2007).

I.6.2 Mechanisms of gene silencing by PEV

Among many models proposed, the two mechanisms of cis-spreading and transinactivation are the prominent models of PEV-associated gene silencing in *Drosophila*. The cisspreading model seems to be the most popular explanation for how heterochromatin induces PEV of the euchromatic genes (see minireview by Wakimoto, 1998). It proposes that the linear spreading of the condensed structure of heterochromatin impacts the chromatin structure of the nearby rearrangement breakpoint and therefore, imposes conformational changes in the chromatin structure of a euchromatic gene. This change in chromatin structure makes the euchromatic loci less accessible to transcriptional factors and results in transcriptional repression (see minireview by Wakimoto, 1998). The prediction that PEV results from changes in chromatin structure is based on the observation that the euchromatic region near the breakpoint changes its banding pattern in polytene chromosomes (see review by Elgin, 1996). Experiments with transgenes such as hsp26 inserted into the heterochromatin have revealed that the promoter of these transgenes, when placed in euchromatin, is less condensed and more accessible to digestion with nucleases. However, when placed in heterochromatic regions, these transgenes are packaged into regular nucleosomal arrays that become transcriptionally repressed and inaccessible to nuclease digestion (reviewed by Grewal and Elgin, 2002). These findings suggest PEV-associated silencing of a transgene might involve a special chromatin packaging of a given domain.

However, the trans-inactivation model of PEV includes plausible explanations for some of the important features of PEV in Drosophila that can not be rationalized with the cis-spreading model. For example, rearrangements that include heterochromatin-euchromatin breakpoints induce transcriptional inactivation of genes that are located long distances away from the breakpoint. This phenomenon is hard to be explained by simple linear propagation of the heterochromatin along chromatin. Moreover, the variegation level is shown to be dependent on the position of the breakpoint along the chromosome and its proximity to other heterochromatic regions, the complexity of the rearrangement, and the interactions between different chromosomes including homolog pairing (reviewed by Wakimoto, 1998). Therefore, based on the transinactivation model, PEV is influenced by interactions between different heterochromatic regions and the overall organization of the chromosomes in interphase. Chromosomal rearrangements with heterochromatin-euchromatin breakpoints can disrupt this organization and cause the displaced gene to settle in a specific nuclear compartment and show a variegated expression pattern depending on the accessibility of the transcriptional factors within the nuclear compartment (reviewed by Wakimoto, 1998).

This explanation gives rise to the nuclear compartmentalization theory of PEV which suggests that chromosomes are localized in specific nuclear territories that are exposed to a nonuniform distribution of the silencing factors and transcriptional machinery throughout the nucleus (Sun et al., 2001). This theory implies that changes in chromosome linkage that change the position of a gene within the nucleus dramatically impact the amount of gene silencing (reviewed by Wallrath, 1998). For example, a mini-white + transgene inserted into tandemly repeated arrays that are placed in euchromatin is repressed by PEV. Relocating the arrays containing the transgene by chromosomal rearrangement at a distal location will yield higher expression of the transgene whereas bringing the arrays closer to a heterochromatic block will cause the greater repression of the transgene (Dorer and Henikoff, 1997). Similar changes in gene silencing have been observed for the mini-white + transgene when the position of the transgene in the nucleus changes but its local chromosome region stays the same. Therefore, chromosome linkage changes the position of a gene in the nucleus and results in changes in the availability of silencing factors. The nuclear compartmentalization theory can also explain the trans-inactivation of a wild-type allele on a chromosome when it is paired with the allele of a transgene transcriptionally variegated in a heterochromatic region on the homologous chromosome. It means that the allele placed within a heterochromatic region is localized to a silent compartment and drags the wild-type allele to the same silent compartment by somatic pairing (reviewed by Wallrath, 1998). This trans-inactivation of a homologous wild-type allele by pairing does not involve the spreading of heterochromatin across the homologous chromosome as cytological studies do not support heterochromatinization of the homologous chromosome (Belyaeva et al., 1997).

I.7 Heterochromatin function

Heterochromatin plays diverse cellular functions that might be opposing each other. In fact, contrary to the notion that heterochromatin formation is always associated with gene silencing, recent studies have suggested the activation of gene expression requires heterochromatin formation (Weiler and Wakimoto, 1995; Lu et al., 2000). Similarly, HP1 and histone H3 methylation at lysine 9 (H3K9me), the essential components of heterochromatin formation, are associated with transcriptionally active genes within different regions of chromatin (Greil et al., 2003; Cryderman et al., 2005). In addition, heterochromatic proteins assist in recruiting factors that are involved in the recruitment of RNA polymerase II to heterochromatic loci (Zofall and Grewal, 2006). Heterochromatin also acts as a platform where different regulatory proteins are recruited to perform diverse chromosome functions. The spreading ability of heterochromatin allows these regulatory proteins to be recruited to specific chromatin regions in a sequence-independent manner (review by Grewal and Jia, 2007). This recruitment is in addition to the sequence-specific recruitment of these proteins to specific loci. Therefore, heterochromatin assists in the regulation of genetic loci that are incapable of the recruitment of the regulatory proteins by themselves (review by Grewal and Jia, 2007). The multidimensional function of heterochromatin provides an evolutionary advantage to eukaryotes; different eukaryotes can use the silencing effect of heterochromatin in different ways to allow for heterochromatin regulation based on different chromatin contexts. Therefore, it is not surprising to see histone modifications and proteins involved in heterochromatic silencing in one context are used for gene activation in another context (Grewal and Jia, 2007).

I.7.1 Heterochromatin regulation of gene Silencing at transcriptional and posttranscriptional levels

Gene silencing at the transcriptional level is one of the functions of heterochromatin achieved by chromatin condensation and nucleosome repositioning. Chromosome condensation is achieved through Swi6/HP1 binding to heterochromatic loci. These molecules in turn recruit chromatin-modifying enzymes that reduce the accessibility of the transcriptional machinery to the bound sequences (Grewal and Elgin, 2002). For example, in *S. pombe*, Swi6 and other chromatinbound proteins recruit HDACs that are spread from the nucleation site to the target loci. Deacetylation of histones at the target loci by HDACs preserves H3K9 trimethylation and prevents Pol II from accessing the target site (reviewed by Grewal and Jia, 2007). Therefore, deacetylation of the histones coupled with nucleosomes repositioning allows the establishment of a condensed chromatin structure. Other modifications like histone methylation which promote the recruitment and spreading of HDACs assist this process. Similar mechanisms of gene silencing by heterochromatin have been observed in studies with mammals but a complex network of interactions between DNA methylation and histone methylation are also present in gene silencing in mammals (reviewed by Grewal and Jia, 2007).

Heterochromatin-induced gene silencing also occurs through post-transcriptional processing of the target transcripts by RNAi machinery. In addition to being recruited to the repetitive DNA sites, the RNAi complex also acts on large chromosomal domains. It identifies and removes inappropriate transcripts that are generated by the repetitive sequences (review by Grewal and Jia, 2007). However, it is yet unclear how heterochromatin takes advantage of the RNAi machinery to induce silencing effects on the transcripts derived from repeat elements.

I.7.2 Heterochromatin and genome stability: protecting proper mitosis

Constitutive heterochromatin plays an important role in genome stability by controlling proper chromosomes segregation during mitosis. Centromeres which are surrounded by pericentromeric repeats of heterochromatin are the sites of kinetochore formation in mitosis. CENP-A, which is a histone 3 (H3) variant specifically found at centromeres, allows proper chromosome segregation during mitosis (reviewed by Janssen et al., 2018). Studies in fission yeast have revealed the essential roles of the components of the pericentromeric heterochromatin for de novo synthesis of CENP-A at centromeres (Folco et al., 2008) and proper attachment of kinetochore and microtubules, resulting in proper segregation of chromosomes to both daughter cells (Ekwall et al., 1996). Similarly, HP1 regulates the formation and the stability of the cohesion complexes in mammals (Kang et al., 2011) and is required as a component of pericentromeric heterochromatin in fission yeast for sister chromatids cohesion (Bernard et al., 2001). In addition to maintaining cohesion, Hp1 α is also involved in recruiting chromosomal complex that corrects improper kinetochore and microtubule attachment in mitosis. Improper chromosome segregation is also shown to results from mutations in HP1 or H3K9 methyltransferases in fission yeast, Drosophila, and mice. It can lead to chromosomal defects including chromosomal breakage during cytokinesis, and aneuploidy (unequal segregation of chromosomes to each daughter cell), and the subsequent increase in the rate of tumor incidence (reviewed by Janssen et al., 2018).

I.7.3 Heterochromatin prevents aberrant repeat recombination

The condensed structure of heterochromatin protects the integrity of the multiple repeats present within heterochromatin. Improper DNA damage repairs, more specifically double-strand break (DSB) repairs, are very dangerous in repetitive sequences. There are different repair mechanisms for DNA double-strand breaks but homologous recombination (HR) is one of the main repair systems. HR relies on end resection which is a biochemical process that includes the removal of a few nucleotides from the 5' end of the double-strand break site to produce a 3' singlestranded sequence that can line up with the matching sequence on the sister chromatids or homologous chromosome to copy and repair the DSB (reviewed by Janssen et al., 2018). However, the presence of a large number of repetitive homologous sequences from different chromosomes located within heterochromatic domains can result in recombination of the DSB with these repeats and the subsequent generation of dicentric chromosomes, insertions, deletions, and other chromosomal abnormalities (see review by Janssen et al., 2018). Therefore, the compacted structure of heterochromatin maintains the integrity of the repeats and prevents abnormal chromosomal structures.

I.8 Mechanisms of heterochromatin formation

I.8.1 Histone modifications of heterochromatin

Post-translational modifications (PTMs) of the amino-terminal of the core histone tails referred to as the epigenetic modifications regulate gene expression in a DNA sequenceindependent manner. Histone PTMs along with the addition or removal of the linker histone protein H1 interact with transcription factors and non-histone chromatin binding proteins to permit the higher-order structure of chromatin by promoting the accessibility of the underlying DNA to transcription, replication, and repair and packaging it into the highly condensed structure of chromosomes during mitosis (reviewed in Allshire and Madhani, 2018).

The mechanism of chromatin silencing was originally identified in the budding yeast *S. cerevisiae*. This mechanism contains the SIR (Silent Information Regulator) protein system in which four proteins, including Sir1, Sir2, Sir3, and Sir4 are recruited in response to the recognition of the silencing factors by sequence-specific DNA-binding proteins. Sir2 is a histone deacetylase (HDAC) that removes the acetyl groups from H4K16 sites, allows Sir3-Sir4 complex to bind nucleosomes, and promotes further recruitment of Sir proteins complex to establish the silent

chromatin state. The SIR system is a unique feature of the budding yeast and is quite distinct from the mechanism of constitutive heterochromatin formation (reviewed in Allshire and Madhani, 2018).

Constitutive heterochromatin formation is regulated by several distinct chromatinmodifying enzymes, which generally promote hypo-acetylation and hyper-methylation of histone 3 lysine 9 (H3K9me) relative to euchromatin (cited in Wang et al, 2016). Studies using antibodies against histones H3 and H4 show that pericentromeric heterochromatin is hypoacetylated compared to euchromatin. Similarly, the heterochromatin of the Barr body (inactivated X chromosome) also shows hypoacetylation of H3 and H4 (see review by Dillon, 2004). This hypoacetylation of histones along with other modifications of the underlying DNA sequence is thought to promote the condensed structure of chromatin.

Similarly, early studies showed that Su(var)3-9 gene, which encodes for a histone methyltransferase (HMT) protein, specifically facilitates methylation of H3K9, a prominent marker of heterochromatin assembly (Rea et al., 2000). The specificity of this HMT for H3K9 proves the role of H3K9 methylation in heterochromatin formation. Also, the malfunctioning of centromere due to the targeted knockdown of Su(var)3-9 in mice is another evidence for such a role (Peters et al., 2001). However, more than one methyl group can bind lysine, leading to mono, di, and trimethylation of H3K9. This makes the studies of heterochromatin formation challenging as different enzymes are involved in each type of methylation. However, recent studies have shown that H3K9 tri-methylation and H3K27 mono-methylation are enriched in pericentric heterochromatin where these forms of methylation require the activity of HMTase produced by the expression of Su(var)3-9h gene (Peters et al., 2003). H3K9 mono- and di-methylations mainly occur at euchromatinic regions and require the activity of G9 HMTase protein. This is evident that

18

the pericentric heterochromatin marked by H3K9 tri-methylation differs in terms of histone methylation pattern from the epigenetically repressed euchromatin which is marked by H3K9 dimethylation (Plath et al., 2003).

I.8.2 Role of HP1 in heterochromatin assembly

HP1 is a highly conserved chromatin-binding protein originally identified in Drosophila as a dosage-dependent modifier of PEV (James and Elgin, 1986). Its homologous forms have been identified in many species from Swi6, Chp1, and Chp2 in fission yeast to HP1 α , HP1 β , and HP1 γ in humans (Eissenberg and Elgin, 2000). Most of HP1, such as HP1 α and HP1 β , is found at the heterochromatic regions while some forms, such as HP1 γ , are localized at different regions of the euchromatin (James et al., 1989). HP1 is produced by the Su(var)2-5 gene which causes changes in the variegation of both euchromatic and heterochromatic genes in a dosage-dependent manner. Knocking down the activity of HP1 causes increased variegated expression of the white gene while the overexpression of HP1 decreases the gene expression (Eissenberg et al., 1992). HP1 proteins mediate heterochromatin modification through three distinct domains: a chromodomain which binds H3K9me sites, a chromoshadow domain which allows for the dimerization of the HP1 and interaction with other proteins, and a flexible (non-conserved) hinge region which is involved in DNA and RNA binding (reviews by Fanti and Pimpinelli, 2008; Maison and Almouzni, 2004). HP1 proteins, through the actions of these domains, bind and maintain the chromatin structure in a highly compacted state. In addition, they recruit a variety of factors that are involved in different aspects of heterochromatin modification (Huisinga et al., 2006).

The three isoforms of HP1 in human cells and Swi6 in fission yeast have a dynamic binding activity to chromatin (Cheutin et al., 2003; Festenstein et al., 2003). They are shown to rapidly change from a chromatin-bound state to a free-floating version or vice versa or rapidly displacing

19

among different heterochromatic domains. In addition, HP1 proteins are known to change their activity at different stages of cell differentiation. For example, HP1 β is shown to be more mobile in human embryonic stem cells and induced pluripotent stem cells as compared to fibroblasts. This dynamic activity of HP1 isoforms can be controlled through regulatory mechanisms or changes in chromatin structure in these embryonic stem cells. However, the dynamic activity of HP1 can promote the recruitment of other factors that can ultimately bind and modify the underlying DNA sequence (Wang et al., 2016). For example, in D. melanogaster, methylation of H3K9 sites acts as a binding site for the chromodomain of HP1 to be recruited to the heterochromatic domains (Nakayama et al., 2001; Bannister et al., 2001). HP1 binding facilitates the direct recruitment of the HTMs produced by Su(var)3-9 or indirectly through the recruitment of Su(var)3-7 (Schotta et al., 2002). In this manner, the process of heterochromatin formation continues until Su(var)3-9 stops methylation of the adjacent histone. A similar process occurs in S. pombe where H3K9 methylation is initiated through the action of the cryptic regulator 4 (Clr4: SUV39h homolog) in a way that is independent of Swi6. Clr4 recruitment is initiated through the involvement of noncoding RNA (ncRNA) and RNA interference (RNAi). However, Swi6 controls the spreading of methylation across the heterochromatic domain (reviewed by Grewal and Jia, 2007). In addition, Swi/HP1 proteins can bind to other factors such as histone deacetylases (HDACs) that are involved in different aspects of heterochromatin assembly. Therefore, the binding of Swi6/HP1 to methylated H3K9 sites acts as a platform for the recruitment of many chromatin-modifying complexes that maintain and spread the heterochromatic domains (Eskeland et al., 2007). Similarly, in addition to the H3K9 methylation pathway, gene silencing (heterochromatinization) also occurs by H3K27 methylation through polycomb repressive pathway but the underlying

mechanisms of how the two pathways interact with each other at the overlapping regions of heterochromatin are not understood yet (reviewed by Zeng et al., 2010).

I.8.3 Role of transcription in heterochromatin assembly

First discovered in fission yeast but afterward in C. elegans and Drosophila as well (Pal-Bhadra et al., 2004; Grishok et al., 2005), it was found that the constitutive heterochromatin assembly, which forms at the repetitive DNA sequences and suppresses transcription of these sequences, requires transcription of these repeats. It seems that these repeats are the targets for the formation of constitutive heterochromatin (reviewed by Grewal and Jia, 2007). Studies have shown that heterochromatin assembly is mediated by the active roles of non-coding RNAs and RNAi. Early observation in plants suggested the role of the small double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) in DNA methylation and transcriptional gene silencing (Mette et al., 2000). Further studies with S. pombe showed that components of the RNAi machinery which include Dicer (Dcr), Argonaute (Ago), and RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RdRP) were required for the transcriptional silencing of genes. It was shown that mutation of a gene encoding ago1 caused defects in chromosome segregation, a defective phenotype that is associated with defects in heterochromatin formation (Grewal et al., 1998). Further studies proved the core components (Ago1, Dcr1, Rdp1) of the RNAi machinery are necessary for the silencing effect of heterochromatin and chromatin modifications like H3K9me which are associated with pericentric heterochromatin regions in Drosophila and the mating-type locus in fission yeast (Volpe et al., 2003; Hall et al., 2002).

I.8.4 Mechanism of RNAi-mediated heterochromatin assembly

It is believed that the factors involved in chromatin modifications such as histone deacetylases Clr3 and Clr6 (homologs of HDAC1 and RPD3 in mammals, respectively) and Sir2

(which deacetylases H3K9 and H4K16 sites) initiate the process of heterochromatin assembly in *S. pombe*. This step is followed by histone methylation of H3K9 sites by the action of Clr4 (homolog of SUV39 in mammals). Histone methylation acts as an anchoring site that is recognized by the chromodomain of Swi6, chp1, and chp2 proteins which are the HP1 homologs. Heterochromatin spreading also depends on the deacetylase activity of Sir2 on the neighboring histones to recruit Swi6 and Clr4 proteins. The components of RNAi machinery are further required for Clr4 recruitment and subsequent steps towards heterochromatin formation (reviewed by Saksouk et al., 2015).

The specific mechanisms of how RNAi recruits silencing factors and histone modifications to the repetitive sequences are not fully known but it is predicted that the opening of chromatin structure by DNA Polymerase at the replication fork during DNA replication allows transcription of the repetitive sequences. The RNA-dependent RNA polymerase complex (RDRC) converts these transcribed RNAs to double-stranded sequences which are in turn converted to small interfering RNAs (siRNAs) by the action of ribonuclease Dicer. RNA-induced transcriptional silencing (RITS), which contains the Ago1 protein, forms a complex with siRNAs and binds the CLRC complex. CLRC complex consists of an H3K9 methyltransferase that promotes methylation of H3K9 sites. The other subunit of RITS, Chp1 with a chromodomain, recognizes H3K9me and through its association with heterochromatin forms a heterochromatin loop and allows for the transcription of repeat sequences through RNAi (see Figure 1) (Wang et al., 2016). Therefore, transcription of repetitive DNA sequences both provides small RNAs and allows for the recruitment of other factors that are involved in heterochromatin formation. The heterochromatin and the RNAi machinery then spread across the chromatin from the initial nucleation sites to neighboring regions to exert their heterochromatic effect (Wang et al., 2016).

The same mechanisms of heterochromatin assembly by RNAi machinery in *S. Pombe* and plants exist in *Drosophila* (reviewed by Hennig, 1999). It is suggested that mutations in *aubergine, homeless, and piwi,* which are components of the RNAi machinery in *Drosophila,* cause derepression of the silencing effect such as the decrease in H3K9me level and the delocalization of HP1 along the entire polytene chromosome (Pal-Bhadra et al., 2004). This observation indicates the role of RNAi machinery in heterochromatin formation in *Drosophila.* Whether this role is direct or indirect in heterochromatin assembly needs to be investigated in the future (Dillon, 2004). Similarly, studies with the mammals suggest factors involved in chromatin modifications such as DNMT, HMTase, and HDACs, transcription factors, and other proteins like NuRD, NoRC, and ATRX, and co-repressors are contributing elements in heterochromatin formation. However, the presence of the RNA-mediated machinery in heterochromatin assembly in mammals remains controversial. As suggested by Saksouk et al. (2015), the components of RNAi machinery that contribute to heterochromatin formation might be important at specific developmental stages where the heterochromatic domains are established.

The spreading of heterochromatin components from the nucleation site allows heterochromatin expansion in a DNA sequence-independent manner. This is best observed with PEV where heterochromatin spreads over a large distance into euchromatin. Similar mechanisms of positive feedback loop seen in heterochromatin assembly are also involved in heterochromatin spreading (reviewed by Allshire and Madhani, 2018). However, the spreading ability of heterochromatin needs to be tightly regulated to prevent errors in gene silencing. Different mechanisms prevent heterochromatin spreading including transcription factors that create nucleosome-free regions, and recruitment of anti-silencing factors by transcription factors and other regulatory elements (reviewed by Allshire and Madhani, 2018).



Figure I.1: Mechanism of heterochromatin formation in fission yeast.

Sir2 initiates heterochromatin assembly in *S. pombe* by deacetylating histone tails at H3K9 and H4K16 sites, followed by histone methylation of H3K9 sites by the action of Clr4 (homolog of SUV39 in mammals). Histone methylation acts as an anchoring site that is recognized by the chromodomain of Swi6, chp1, and chp2 proteins which are the HP1 homologs. RNA Polymerase II (RNAPII) transcribes pericentromeric noncoding repeats in single strand RNA which are converted to double-stranded RNAs by Rdp1, a component of the RNA-dependent RNA polymerase complex (RDRC). Double-strand RNAs are converted to small interfering RNAs (siRNAs) by the ribonuclease Dicer. RNA-induced transcriptional silencing (RITS) forms a complex with siRNAs and binds the CLRC complex, a methyltransferase that promotes further trimethylation of H3K9 by Clr4 and maintains heterochromatin. Reproduced with permission from Saksouk et al., 2015.

I.9 D. melanogaster as a Model of Heterochromatin and Aging

D. melanogaster has been a powerful model organism for the study of aging over the last 100 years. Since the discovery that some aspects of aging are genetically controlled, studies trying to modify aging process employing genetic manipulation have extensively experimented the alterations of lifespan by gene mutations in different model organisms. The earliest genetic studies discovered mutations in the components of insulin and IGF-1 like signaling pathway that is associated with the extension of lifespan in worms, fruit flies, and mice (Holzenberger et al., 2003). Thus, knowing that some genetic aspects of aging are conserved among different species paved the path for the study of the underlying molecular mechanisms of aging by utilizing small shortlived invertebrates such as Drosophila. Fruit flies become a very useful tool in the study of conserved pathways of aging when findings from flies are combined with those of nematode worms, as well as other short-lived invertebrates such as S. cerevisiae. These findings from invertebrates could be further applied to the longer-lived vertebrates like rats to discover the evolutionarily conserved mechanisms to enhance lifespan in more complex organisms (see review by Piper and Partridge, 2018). Some of the properties of Drosophila that makes this organism advantageous in aging studies include: the low cost of rearing and maintaining, the ease of generating large numbers of a given sample in a short period, the ease of distinct tissues dissection and genetic manipulation, availability of a large number of genetic tools such as CRISPR/CAS9 system for gene editing, and the ease of generating constructs for gene overexpression or knockdown in a specific tissue and at a specific time-period (Kennedy et al., 2017). In addition, many tissues found in mammals such as the human heart and kidneys can be also found in flies. Moreover, 77 % of genes involved in aging-related diseases in humans are expressed in the equivalent tissues in flies. Similarly, the short lifespan of flies allows experimenters to modify the experimental conditions to generate stocks with maximum lifespan (reviewed by Piper and Partridge, 2018).

In addition, studies with different model organisms have greatly raised our understanding of the mechanisms of heterochromatin formation. Different pathways of histone modifications and DNA methylation in heterochromatin assembly have been identified (Goll and Bestor, 2005; Maison and Almouzni, 2004). However, due to the increasing number of identified factors linked to heterochromatin assembly and the complex nature of the higher eukaryotic genome, the mechanisms of heterochromatin formation have not been fully understood yet. Similarly, Drosophila has been a great tool for the genetic study of heterochromatin properties and understanding the underlying mechanisms of its formation. The small size of the Drosophila genome which contains a large amount of heterochromatin provides an advantage for the study of chromatin structure and function. For instance, 30 % of female (XX) and 35 % of male (XY) genome of *D. melanogaster* contains heterochromatin. The pericentric regions (which make 25 %) of chromosomes 2 and 3, the entire Y-chromosome, the proximal end (40 %) of X-chromosome, and most (75 %) of the chromosome 4 are found to be heterochromatic (Lohe et al., 1993). In addition, recent experimental findings have demonstrated the presence of many conserved pathways, which are involved in heterochromatin formation, between fruit flies and other higher eukaryotes including humans.

II. RATIONALE, HYPOTHESES, AND OBJECTIVES

Among many models of aging, the heterochromatin loss model of aging has received little attention. This model was first proposed by Villeponteau (1997) who claimed that heterochromatin domains established during embryogenesis are gradually lost with advancing age, causing genetic instability through de-repression (activation) of silenced genes, nuclear disorganization, and aberrant changes in the pattern of gene expression in the cell. In addition to the loss of heterochromatin markers and heterochromatin proteins seen in HGPS and normal physiological aging (Scaffidi and Misteli, 2005), the shortening of pericentric and centromeric heterochromatin has been observed in many different senescent cells (Swanson et al., 2013). Recent studies suggest the heterochromatin loss model of aging could be possibly termed "the global heterochromatin loss" model of aging (Tsurumi and Li, 2012). Similarly, studies exploring the roles of heterochromatin in aging in Drosophila suggest that the loss of heterochromatin marked by HP1 loss of function leads to an increase in the transcription level of rRNA that is involved in ribosomes and protein synthesis (Larson et al., 2012). Although recent advances in the aging field have uncovered a large number of factors and major mechanisms involved in the process of aging due to heterochromatin loss, a key question remains unanswered; whether these mechanisms are simply the by-products of the normal aging, or they are the factors associated with heterochromatin loss which trigger generation of age-related phenotypes.

The objectives of my MSc thesis were to explore the effects of changes in the levels of heterochromatin on the process of aging in *D. melanogaster*. My goal was to see what would happen to the expression levels of some of the known heterochromatic genes as well as some euchromatic genes involved in aging (Table 1) when a large block of heterochromatin was either removed from or added to the nucleus of the fruit fly models. To do this, the principles of the
classic genetics were applied to generate X/O males lacking the Y chromosome, and XXY females with an added copy of the Y chromosome, through meiotic non-disjunction (Bridges, 1916). Almost the entire Y chromosome in *D. melanogaster* is heterochromatic and contains very few protein-coding genes that are only expressed in the male germline cells (cited by Brown et al., 2020). Therefore, the genetic variation due to the removal or addition of the Y chromosome in different X/O, XY, XX, and XXY karyotypes is minimized. In addition, the benefit of utilizing meiotic non-disjunction in producing X/O and XXY flies is that these flies are isogenic to XY and XX flies, except for the presence or absence of the Y chromosome. It was also possible to construct the X/O and XXY males and females from flies carrying double compound or attached X-Y chromosomes (C(1:Y)) (Brown et al., 2020) but there is a high probability of the segregation of the attached chromosomes and the Y chromosome breakage. Moreover, flies from Df(2R) Ms2-10/CyO, S stock missing a portion of the pericentromeric heterochromatin from the right arm of chromosome 2 (Hilliker and Holm, 1975) were generated to see whether the removal of a heterochromatic portion from a chromosome other than the Y chromosome will have similar effects on the expression profiles of the same heterochromatic and aging genes as the Y chromosome deletion does.

It is hypothesized that the removal of the Y chromosome from the nucleus of the *D*. *melanogaster* cells will induce an increase in the overall expression levels of the heterochromatic loci as well as some aging-related euchromatic genes. We hypothesized that the deletion of a heterochromatin portion in *D. melanogaster* would have similar effects on the expression profiles of the underlying genes as the process of Y chromosome removal does.

It was also of interest to measure the lifespan of these X/O and XXY flies in addition to that of the Df(2R)MS2-10/CyO, S males and females, and compare results with those from the normal wild-

type XY male and XX female counterparts to see if changing the heterochromatin levels will impact the longevity of the flies. Studies have shown that male XY flies live shorter than XX female flies (Tower and Arbeitman, 2009; Yoon et al., 1990) and similar results have been found in some other organisms, including humans (see review by Marias et al., 2018).

III. METHODOLOGY

III.1 Drosophila stock preparation

The isogenic sample of $y^1/Dp(1;Y)B^s$ flies carrying the duplication of the Bar Stone marker on the Y chromosome was ordered from Bloomington Drosophila Stock Center (Stock # 1542). The Df(2R)Ms2-10/CyO, S flies carrying the deletion of a portion of the right arm of chromosome 2 and the CyO, S marker on the homologous chromosome 2 were also used along with the ry⁵⁺ wild-type flies as control. Flies collected for screening under the light microscope were anesthetized with diethyl ether vapor, and progenies were scored 1-2 days after eclosion.

III.2 Drosophila crosses

Flies were raised at room temperature and normal day/light cycle in small culture vials containing standard sugar and yeast medium with propionic acid to prevent mold formation. They were transferred to fresh food-containing culture vials every 4-5 days until enough progenies were generated. The $y^1/Dp(1;Y)B^s$ males and y^1/y^1 (homozygous recessive yellow) females were raised in large culture bottles and crossed together to generate a large number of flies for screening of X/O and XXY flies (see Figure III.1). XXY females were further crossed to corresponding $y^1/Dp(1;Y)B^s$ males to produce more XXY female progenies.

III.3 Longevity test

A maximum of 10 flies of XX, XXY, XY, or X/O karyotype from y¹/Dp(1;Y)B^s line as well as XX females and XY males from Df(2R)MS2-10/CyO, S stock were kept in separate culture

vials 1-2 days after eclosion and recorded as 1-day old flies. Alive flies were transferred to fresh culture vials every 2 days and the number of dead, strayed, and alive flies were recorded until the complete death of all the flies in the vial. A total of 180-190 flies from each karyotype and each line were used for lifespan measurement.

III.4 Total RNA purification and quantification

To extract total RNA, five healthy flies of the same age from each karyotype and each line were manually homogenized in 500 μ L of TRIzol Reagent (Invitrogen Canada Inc., Burlington) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Chloroform was added after incubation to dissociate nucleic acids and proteins, samples were centrifuged at 13000 rpm for 15 minutes, and the aqueous top layer was transferred without disturbing the other layers. After incubation and centrifugation with isopropanol, the RNA pellet was washed with 70 % ethanol, and then air-dried for 5-10 minutes. The pellet was dissolved in 20 ul of DEPC-treated nuclease-free water by incubation at 55 °C for 10 minutes. The RNA concentration was measured using NanoDrop, and then diluted to 50 ng/ul using DEPC-treated nuclease-free water, and the aliquoted samples were maintained at -70 to -80° C.

III.5 Quantitative reverse transcriptase PCR (qRT-PCR)

iTaq Universal SYBR Green One-Step Kit (Bio-Rad Catalog # 172-5150) was used to convert total RNA to cDNA and amplify the sequence of interest through qRT-PCR. The Kit instructions were followed but the PCR tubes were not sealed with optically transparent caps since the Rotor-Gene Q (QIAGEN) used for qRT-PCR analysis reads through the bottom of the tube. Each PCR tube contained 20 ul of the total volume reaction, including 2 ul of 50 ng/ul total RNA.

III.6 Primers

Table III.1 lists the genes and the corresponding forward and reverse primers used for gene expression analysis in this study.

III.7 qRT-PCR analysis and normalization

qRT-PCR analysis was done to quantify the relative expression levels of the selected genes. To do this, the Beta tubulin at 56D (BTub 56D) gene was selected as the reference gene (Lü et al., 2018), its expression level was arbitrarily set to one, and the expression levels of all the other genes were calculated relative to that of BTub 56D gene. In total, five technical replicates for each gene and each karyotype at either 20 days or 60 days of age were used along with the same number of technical replicates for the BTub 56D gene for the same karyotype as the internal control. The cycle threshold (C_T) value of the target gene for each karyotype was subtracted from the corresponding C_T value of the BTub 56D gene and raised to the power of 2 (2[[] C_T (reference gene) – C_T (target gene)]. Same calculation was repeated for the other technical replicates and the average of 2^{1} [C_{T} (reference gene) – C_{T} (target gene) values for the replicates were used to determine the average relative expression levels of the gene of interest. The standard error of the mean was calculated for each gene and each karyotype and presented as +/- error bar. Student's t.test (two samples, two-tailed and unequal variance) was calculated to determine the statistically significant difference (P < 0.05, P < 0.01, and P < 0.001) in gene expression levels between the two karyotypes.

Table III.1: List of heterochromatic and aging genes and their corresponding primers

The table also shows the location of the gene within the genome, the biological function(s), and the corresponding forward (F or L) and reverse primers (R) used in this study. R and L in the "Gene Location" column denote the right and left arms of a chromosome, respectively. Primers sequences are shown in the $5' \rightarrow 3'$ direction.

Name	Gene	Location	Gene Type	Biological Function	Sequence
βTub56D R	β-Tubulin at 56D	2R		Microtubule	CCAACTGAACGCTG ATCTCC
βTub56D R	β-Tubulin at 56D	2R	Control	cytoskeleton organization (31)	AACATCTGCTGGGT CAGCTC
Cht3 R	Chitinase 3	2L		Chitin catabolic	GCCTGGGAGTTTCC TGTATG
Cht3 L	Chitinase 3	2L	Heterochromatin	carbohydrate metabolic process (1,2)	TTACTGGGCGAGAC TGCTG
CG17715R	CG17715	2L			CGTTCCTCGTCATC AAGGTT
CG17715L	CG17715	2L	Heterochromatin	Not known	GAGGCAGAGAGCT ATTGAGG
lt L	light	2L	Heterochromatin	Essential for normal	AGCCCTACGACCTG TATTATGC
lt R	light	2L	Theteroemomatin	pigmentation (3)	GCGATTCTCCTCGA TTATGC
Spf45R	Spf45	2L	Uataroahromatin	Bifunctional: both DNA splicing and DNA repair protein (4)	GATGGTCAAGGTCT CGGAAA
Spf45L	Spf45	2L	Heterocinomatin		ATAGAAGGTGGCG ACAATGC
rlF	rolled	2R		Epidermal growth factor receptor signalling pathway(17), adult lifespan determination (18)	GGAAGCTCTTGCAC ATCCCT
rlR	rolled	2R	Heterochromatin		AACGACTTCAGGG CATCTCG
YetiF	Yeti	2		Chromosome organization, meiotic and mitotic chromosome condensation 20-21)	AGCTGTGTTCCGAG AAATCG
YetiR	Yeti	2	Heterochromatin		GGTGGCGTCGTCTT TTTCAC
ParpF	Poly-(ADP- ribose) polymerase	3R	Heterochromatin	Nucleolus	TCGGATTGCTGTCA TGGTTCA
ParpR	Poly-(ADP- ribose) polymerase	3R		organization (22)	TCTCCTACTGAGCT GGGACG

Name	Gene	Location	Gene Type	Biological Function	Sequence
RpL5F	Ribosomal protein L5	2L	TT- 4	Assembly of	TTCCGGCGAGGTAT GTGTAA
RpL5R	Ribosomal protein L5	2L	Heterochromatin	subunit (23)	ACTGCTTGTTCTTGA CTACCTT
SlmapF	Sarcolemma associated protein	2L	Hatarochromatin	Negative regulation of hippo signalling	CCAGAGAATGCACT GCGAAAC
SlmapR	Sarcolemma associated protein	2L	Theterocinomatin	regulation of Ras signalling (25)	GTTCCTGGTAGACC TTCCGC
Maf1F	Maf1	2R	Repression of		ACGAAGAAGGTAG AAGAAGTAACAG
Maf1R	Maf1	2R	Theteroemoniatin	Polymerase III (26)	GTCTGAGCATCGTT CTTGCG
HaspinF	Haspin	2R		Maintenance of sister	TGTGCAGCCTTCGA ACAAGT
HaspinR	Haspin	2R	Heterochromatin	protein phosphorylation (27)	CGGATGGTCATTTT CAGATCCC
eIF4BF	eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4B	3L			GCAACAGTTAGTTG GCGCAC
eIF4BR	eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4B	3L	Heterochromatin	Translation initiation (28)	GACACAGAACGGTC ATTGCG
CG40178F	CG40178	3L			TCACTTCATCATACT ATGCCCAACA
CG40178R	CG40178	3L	Heterochromatin	Not known	TGTACACAGGACCA GAATGGTT
Sod1F	Superoxide dismutase 1	3L	Aging gene	Age-dependent response to oxidative stress (5),	TGCGTAATTAACGG CGATGC
Sod1R	Superoxide dismutase 1	3L		determination of adult lifespan (6)	CATGCTCCTTGCCA TACGGA

Name	Gene	Location	Gene Type	Biological Function	Sequence
Sod2F	Superoxide dismutase 2 (Mn)	2R	A sing gang	Reactive oxygen species metabolic	GTGGCCCGTAAAAT TTCGCA
Sod2R	Superoxide dismutase 2 (Mn)	2R	Aging gene	determination of adult lifespan (8)	CTCTTCGACTTGGC CTCCTC
CatF	Catalase	3L		Reactive oxygen species defense	ACCGAAGGCGGCT AGAAATC
CatR	Catalase	3L	Aging gene	neutrilization of hydrogen peroxide to water (9), impacts adult lifespan (10)	GGGAGGCATCCTTG ATTCCA
foxoF	forkhead box, sub-group O	3R		Transcription factor involved in:	TGAGTCAGATTTAC GAGTGG
foxoR	forkhead box, sub-group O	3R	Aging gene	adult lifespan (11), oxidative sress (12), insulin receptor signalling pathway (13)	CATAAAGCGGTTGT GCAGCG
myoF	myoglianin	4	Δ ging gene	Determination of	CTATTAATACCAAC GATGAGG
myoR	myoglianin	4		adult lifespan (14)	CTTATCCAATCCCA ACCACG
Sirt2F	Sirtuin 2	3R		Histone deacetylation (15),	AAGGAGGAACAAC CGACGAC
Sirt2R	Sirtuin 2	3R	Aging gene	determination of adult lifespan (16), neurogeneration	GAAACCATGCACA CGCCAAT
TorF	Target of rapamycin	2L			CAAACGCATTTGGG TGAGGG
TorR	Target of rapamycin	2L	Aging gene	Determination of adult lifespan (30)	AAAGGCAGCCAAT CGAGGAA
p38bF	p38b MAP kinase	2L			GAAAAGGTGTAGG CGCAGCG
p38bR	p38b MAP kinase	2L	Aging gene	adult lifespan (29)	GAATTTGGCCATTT TGCGCG



Figure III.1: Schematic representation of the *D. melanogaster* cross

The figure depicts the self-cross of yellow Bar Stone-eye males and homozygous recessive yellow female flies from the isogenic $y^1/Dp(1;Y)B^s$ stock to produce X/O, XY, XX, and XXY karyotypes through meiotic nondisjunction. XY males and XXY females carrying the duplication of the Bar Stone (B^s) on the Y chromosome show narrow brown eyes (typical of B^s phenotype) while X/O males and XX females missing Y chromosome and the B^s marker show normal red eye color.

IV. RESULTS

IV.1 Lifespan measurement of different karyotypes

To see if changes in heterochromatin levels affect the lifespan of flies, approximately 180 flies from each XX, XXY, XY, and X/O karyotypes from the $y^1/Dp(1;Y)B^s$ stock were collected and distributed into culture vials, each containing a maximum of 10 flies, for lifespan measurement. The Bar Stone eye phenotype was used to identify flies that either carried an added copy of the Y chromosome (XXY) or lacked it (X/O males). Normal XY males have narrow Bar eyes as they carry the Bar Stone marker on their Y chromosome, but X/O males have normal red eyes due to the absence of the marker on the Y chromosome. Similarly, XXY Bar Stone-eye females are distinguished from the normal red-eye XX females in the same manner.

The average lifespan of the y¹/Dp(1;Y)B^s flies showed X/O males had a significantly longer lifespan (approximately 14 %) relative to XY males (Figure IV.1). This means the removal of the Y chromosome affects the longevity of the flies and is associated with increased average lifespan in X/O males. Similarly, XX females showed a significantly longer average lifespan relative to the XY male flies. The increased longevity of XX females and X/O males relative to XY males is consistent with the findings from the studies which have demonstrated a shorter lifespan of males compared to females in different taxa, including humans (Marais et al., 2018) as well as studies showing increased longevity of X/O males relative to XY flies due to the absence of the Y chromosome in X/O males (Brown et al., 2020). However, contrary to our prediction, XX females did not show increased longevity compared to XXY females. XXY flies had a longer lifespan than XX females albeit not significant (Figure IV.1). Based on the prediction that the Y chromosome removal would be associated with increased longevity, we hypothesized that flies lacking Y chromosome (X/O) would have the longest average lifespan followed by XX females, and XY males and XXY females having the shortest lifespan. However, it was found that XXY females had the longest average lifespan (about 72.5 days) as they lived significantly longer than X/O and XY males but not significantly longer than XX females (Figure IV.1).

IV.2 Lifespan measurement of Df(2R)MS2-10/CyO, S flies

In addition, Df(2R)MS2-10/CyO, S male and female flies were scored for average lifespan measurement to further explore whether the removal of a heterochromatic region from an autosomal chromosome will induce similar changes in the longevity of the affected flies as the Y-chromosome removal does. Both males and females showed similar average lifespan scores possibly because the impact of the presence or lack of Y chromosome in these flies on the average lifespan measurement was negligible when compared to the significant influence of the deletion of a heterochromatic region from chromosome 2 on the longevity measurement (Figure IV.1). Similarly, maximum lifespan measurement showed no significant difference among different karyotypes of $y^1/Dp(1;Y)B^s$ flies (95-105 days), indicating loss or adding a copy of the Y chromosome does not impact the maximum lifespan measurement (unpublished data). However, both Df(2R)MS2-10/CyO, S males and females appeared to have a similar maximum lifespan but showed a significant reduction in their maximum lifespan (76 and 79, respectively) relative to the normal XY males and XX females from $y^1/Dp(1;Y)B^s$ stock.



Figure IV.1: Longevity measurement of different karyotypes from y¹/Dp(1;Y)B^s stock and Df(2R)MS2-10/CyO, S male and female flies.

The average lifespan in days is shown on the y-axis and the different karyotypes from $y^1/Dp(1;Y)B^s$ stock as well as Df(2R)MS2-10/CyO, S males and females (listed as Df(2R)MS2-10 in the figure) are listed on the x-axis. The figure shows X/O males lived significantly longer than XY males, and XX and XXY females outlived all the other karyotypes. Df(2R)MS2-10/CyO, S males and females showed comparable lifespan measurement and approximately similar average lifespan relative to XY males from $y^1/Dp(1;Y)B^s$ stock. *, **, and *** on the error bars denote P < 0.05, P < 0.01, and P < 0.001, respectively. Student's t.test (unpaired, unequal variance) was applied to determine the statistical significance of the longevity test results.

IV.3 Differential gene expression profiles of 2-days karyotypes

To investigate whether changes in heterochromatin levels are associated with changes in transcriptional activity, we sought to study the expression profiles of 21 genes, including genes that reside within heterochromatin as well as euchromatic genes that are associated with aging phenotypes (see Table III.1). Total RNA from X/O males lacking Y chromosome and XXY female flies carrying an extra copy of Y chromosome was used for qRT-PCR analysis. The average relative expression levels of the selected genes in these karyotypes were compared to those of the normal XY male and XX females from the same $(y^1/Dp(1;Y)B^s)$ stock. The β Tub 56D was used as a reference gene to normalize the relative expression levels of the genes. The qRT-PCR analysis of 2-days flies revealed that six genes, catalase, Sod1, Sod2, Sirt2, Myo, and eIF4B, were overexpressed in X/O males relative to XY males. Four of these genes, catalase, Sod1, Sod2, and Sirt2, showed a significant increase in gene expression levels in X/O males, as compared to XY males (Figure IV.2). Only one of these genes, eIF4B, overexpressed in X/O males relative to XY males, was heterochromatic while the others were euchromatic aging-associated genes. Except for *rl*, *p38b*, and *Maf1* which had comparable expression levels between XY and X/O males, all the other 12 genes were overexpressed in XY males relative to X/O males while the overexpression of 8 of these genes in XY males was statistically significant (Figure IV.2). All the significantly overexpressed genes, Yeti, RpL5, CG40178, lt, Parp, CG17715, Spf45, and Cht3, in XY males were found to be heterochromatic in addition to the other two heterochromatic genes, Haspin and Slmap, being non-significantly overexpressed in XY males in comparison to X/O males (Table IV.1).

Further qRT-PCR analysis of the same genes in 2-days old XX and XXY females was performed to determine the differential gene expression profiles of these flies (Figure IV.3). Cht3, CG17715, and lt were significantly overexpressed in XX females relative to XXY females. This result is consistent with our prediction that female flies with an added copy of the Y chromosome would have reduced expression levels compared to XX females, lacking the Y chromosome. Except for Sod1 and Sod2 which are aging genes, all the other genes overexpressed either significantly or non-significantly in XX flies relative to XXY females turned out to be localized within the heterochromatin (Table IV.1). However, eIF4B, Slmap, CG40178, and p38b had significantly increased expression levels in XXY females relative to XX females (significantly reduced expression levels in XX females). In addition, the other six genes, Sirt2, RpL5, Tor, Foxo, Parp, and catalase, had considerably but non-significantly increased transcriptional activity in XXY flies compared to XX females (see Figure IV.3, Table IV.1). All the significantly overexpressed genes in XXY females were found to be heterochromatic as well as nearly half of the non-significantly overexpressed genes. A general trend can be drawn from the expression profiles of 2-day old flies, suggesting the downregulation of heterochromatic genes and the upregulation of aging genes in X/O males relative to XY flies. However, this trend is not observed with XX and XXY females which show upregulation of nearly half of the heterochromatic genes as well as half of the aging-related genes in XX females, as compared to XXY flies (Table IV.1).









Figure IV.2: Average relative mRNA levels of heterochromatic and aging genes in 2-days old X/O and XY males.

Quantitative RT-PCR was used to measure the relative expression levels of the heterochromatic and aging-associated genes of 2-days old X/O and XY male karyotypes from $y^1/Dp(1;Y)B^s$ stock. Data represent mean ± SEM of five technical replicates relative to the BTub 56D (internal control) gene. An overall change in the relative expression profiles of the heterochromatic and agingassociated genes was observed when the level of heterochromatin was reduced as the result of Y chromosome removal in X/O males relative to the wild-type XY flies. Student's t.test (two-tailed and unequal variance) was used to determine the statistical significance (P < 0.05, P < 0.01, and P < 0.001 as denoted by *, **, and *** on the error bars, respectively).











Figure IV.3: Average relative mRNA levels of heterochromatic and aging genes in 2-days old XX and XXY females.

Quantitative RT-PCR was used to measure expression levels of heterochromatic and agingassociated genes from 2-days old XX and XXY karyotypes of $y^1/Dp(1;Y)B^s$ stock. Data represent mean \pm SEM of five technical replicates relative to the BTub 56D (control) gene. An overall change in the relative expression profiles of the heterochromatic and aging-associated genes was observed when the level of heterochromatin was increased as the result of adding an extra copy of the Y chromosome in XXY females relative to the normal XX flies. Student's t.test (two-tailed and unequal variance) was used to determine statistical significance (P < 0.05, P < 0.01, and P < 0.001 as denoted by *, **, and *** on the error bars, respectively).

Table IV.1: Comparison of gene expression levels in 2-days old karyotypes.

Data represent the ratio of the relative gene expression levels of 2-days old X/O vs XY males and XX vs XXY females. An increase or a reduction in the relative gene expression levels are shown by values greater than one or less than one, respectively. The result demonstrates an overall change in the relative transcriptional activity of most heterochromatic and aging-related genes due to variation in the amounts of heterochromatin as seen by the removal or addition of a copy of the Y chromosome. Statistical significance of the changes in the relative gene expression levels are demonstrated with *, **, and *** on the error bars which denote P < 0.05, P < 0.01, and P < 0.001, respectively.

	Type of Gene	Flies Age	X/O v	s XY males	XX vs XXY females	
Gene Name			X/O/XY	Chane in Relative	XX/XXY	Change in Relative
				Expression		Expression
Cht3	heterochromatin	2 days	0.29	Decreased***	/ 81	Increased ***
lt	Heterochromatin	2 days	0.25	Decreased***	6.00	Increased ***
CG17715	Heterochromatin	2 days	0.03	Decreased***	3 30	Increased ***
Snf/15	Heterochromatin	2 days	0.20	Decreased**	2.04	Increased
rl	Heterochromatin	2 days	1.00	No Change	1 50	Increased
II Veti	Heterochromatin	2 days	0.57	Decreased*	1.39	Increased
Dorp	Heterochromatin	2 days	0.57	Decreased***	0.70	Decreased
DpI 5	Heterochromatin	2 days	0.30	Decreased ***	0.79	Decreased
Simon	Heterochromatin	2 days	0.39	Decreased	0.08	Decreased
Mof1	Heterochromatin	2 days	1.02	No Change	0.43	Jecreased
Ivial I	Heterochromatin	2 days	0.72	No Change	1.12	Na Change
Haspin	Heterochromatin	2 days	0.72	Decreased	0.94	No Change
elF4B	Heterochromatin	2 days	1.46	Increased	0.45	Decreased*
CG40178	Heterochromatin	2 days	0.48	Decreased*	0.09	Decreased***
Sod1	Aging gene	2 days	7.63	Increased***	1.56	Increased
Sod2	Aging gene	2 days	3.45	Increased*	1.36	Increased
Cat	Aging gene	2 days	1.66	Increased*	0.17	Decreased
foxo	Aging gene	2 days	0.79	Decreased	0.25	Decreased
Муо	Aging gene	2 days	2.22	Increased	0.98	No Change
Sirt2	Aging gene	2 days	1.47	Increased**	0.61	Decreased
p38b	Aging gene	2 days	1.07	No Change	0.07	Decreased*
Tor	Aging gene	2 days	0.81	Decreased	0.46	Decreased

IV.4 Differential gene expression profiles of 60-days karyotypes

We next sought to confirm the differential gene expression patterns seen in 2-days karyotypes as discussed previously by deploying 60-days flies from the same $y^1/Dp(1;Y)B^s$ line for qRT-PCR analysis to determine changes in the gene expression profiles of the old flies. The two aging genes, *Sod1* and *Sod2*, as well as the heterochromatic gene, *Cht3*, were significantly overexpressed in X/O males relative to XY flies. In addition, *lt*, as a heterochromatic gene, also had a considerable but non-significant overexpression level in X/O males relative to XY males. However, the aging genes, *Sirt2* and *Myo*, and the heterochromatic genes, *rl* and *Yeti*, were significantly overexpressed in XY males than X/O males, a result that is inconsistent with our prediction which suggested overexpression of these genes in X/O males. The other two heterochromatic genes, *CG17715* and *Spf45*, experienced nearly no changes in their expression levels between X/O and XY males (Figure IV.4A).

In addition, *Sirt2* and *Myo* showed a statistically significant upregulation while *Parp* had a statistically non-significant but considerable increase in their expression levels in 60-days XX females, as compared to XXY females (Figure IV.4B). However, the heterochromatic genes, *Cht3*, *CG17715*, and *rl*, along with the aging gene, *Sod2*, were significantly overexpressed in XXY females as compared to XX females. In addition, the heterochromatic genes, *Spf45*, *Yeti*, *lt*, and the aging gene, *Sod1*, showed non-significant increased expression levels in XXY females (Figure IV.4B). Moreover, the comparison of the gene expression profiles between X/O and XY males and XX and XXY females at 60 days reveal a general pattern that suggests where the removal of the Y chromosome is associated with an increase in the expression level of a gene, the addition of Y chromosome will reverse the expression pattern for the same gene (see Table IV.2A). This inconclusive result will require further investigation to uncover conclusions about the direction of

changes in the gene expression pattern that might be associated with the changes in the heterochromatin levels in these flies.

1.6 Average Relative mRNA Levels ■X/O 1.4 □XY 1.2 1 0.8 0.6 ** Ŧ 0.4 0.2 0 cht3 lt CG17715 Spf45 Sirt2 Genes 50 Average Relative mRNA Levels ■X/O 45 40 ΠXΥ 35 30 25 20 15 10 5 0 Муо rl Yeti Sod1 Sod2 Genes

A)





Genes

B)

Figure IV.4: Average relative mRNA levels of heterochromatic and aging genes in 60-days old karyotypes.

Quantitative RT-PCR was used to measure the expression levels of the heterochromatic and agingassociated genes in 60-days old flies to confirm the differential pattern of gene expression as previously seen in 2-days old different karyotypes. Figures **A**) and **B**) depict the average relative mRNA levels of X/O vs XY males and XX vs XXY females from $y^1/Dp(1;Y)B^s$ stock, respectively. Data represent mean \pm SEM of five technical replicates relative to the BTub 56D (control) gene. Student's t.test (two-tailed and unequal variance) was used to determine the statistical significance (P < 0.05, P < 0.01, and P < 0.001) as denoted by *, **, and *** on the error bars, respectively.

IV.5 Confirmation of differential gene expression profiles upon heterochromatin removal

Next, we deployed Df(2R)MS2-10/CyO, S flies to explore the effects of the deletion of a heterochromatic region from the right arm of chromosome 2 on the gene expression profiles and to see whether the deleted region would induce similar changes in the transcriptional activity of the heterochromatic and aging-associated genes in comparison to the changes in genes expression observed with the Y chromosome removal in X/O males relative to the wild-type XY males of $y^{1}/Dp(1;Y)B^{s}$ stock. The gene expression levels of the male and female flies from Df(2R)MS2-10/CyO, S stock were compared to those of the wild-type rosy (ry⁵⁺) male and female flies, respectively. QRT-PCR analysis of 20-days old male flies showed significant overexpression of the two aging genes, Sod1 and Sod2, and the heterochromatic gene, Parp, in addition to the nonsignificant increase in expression of RpL5 and Spf45 in Df(2R)MS2-10/CyO, S males relative to the wild-type ry⁵⁺ male flies (Figure IV.5A). However, the heterochromatic genes, *Cht3*, *Yeti*, and *rl* as well as the aging genes, Myo, and Sirt2 were significantly overexpressed in the wildtype ry⁵⁺ males relative to the deficient males. No noticeable changes in the transcriptional activity of *lt* and CG17715 genes were detected between the deficient and the wild-type males (Figure IV.5A). Similar findings were obtained from 20-day old females from the same stocks; the heterochromatic genes, RpL5, Parp, and the aging genes, Myo and Sod2, had higher average mRNA levels in the deficient females relative to the wild-type females while the heterochromatic genes CG17715, and Spf45 and the aging gene Sirt2 were overexpressed in the wild-type ry^{5+} female flies relative to Df(2R) MS2-10/CyO, S females (Figure IV.5B). The comparison of the gene expression profiles between the deficient and the wild-type males, and the deficient and the wild-type females did not reveal any general trend of either upregulation or downregulation of the heterochromatic and aging

genes when the heterochromatic portion from the 2R chromosome was deleted (see Table IV.2B). Therefore, our data depicted the impact of changes in the heterochromatin levels on the expression pattern of heterochromatic and aging-associated genes. Our study showed the removal or addition of the Y chromosome induces changes in the expression levels of these genes in our experiment. Whether the removal of the Y chromosome upregulates or downregulates gene activity could be studied extensively for a greater number of genes in more detail in the future to uncover the pattern of the changes in the expression levels of a broad range of heterochromatic and aging-associated genes in different X/O, XY, XX, and XXY karyotypes.











B)

Figure IV.5: Average relative gene expression profiles of heterochromatic and aging genes in Df(2R)MS2-10/CyO, S, and ry⁵⁺ flies.

These figures depict the quantitative RT-PCR analysis to compare the average mRNA levels of a number of the heterochromatic and aging genes in 20-days old flies between **A**) Df(2R)MS2-10/CyO, S and ry⁵⁺ males, and **B**) Df(2R)MS2-10/CyO, S and ry⁵⁺ females. Data represent mean \pm SEM of five replicates relative to the BTub 56D (control) gene. *, **, and *** on the error bars denote statistical significance (P < 0.05, P < 0.01, and P < 0.001, respectively) of the changes in the relative expression levels as determined by the student's t.test (two-tailed, unequal variance).

Table IV.2: Comparison of gene expression levels among 60-days y¹/Dp(1;Y)B^s karyotypes and 20-days Df(2R)MS2-10/CyO, S vs ry⁵⁺ flies.

Data represent the ratio of the relative gene expression levels between **A**) 60-days X/O vs XY males, and XX vs XXY females from $y^1/Dp(1;Y)B^s$ stock and **B**) 20-days Df(2R)MS2-10/CyO, S vs ry⁵⁺ males and Df(2R)MS2-10/CyO, S vs ry⁵⁺ females. An increase or a reduction in the relative gene expression levels in comparison to BTub 56D gene are shown by values greater than one or less than one, respectively. The result demonstrates overall changes in the relative transcriptional activity of most heterochromatic and aging-related genes due to variation in the amounts of heterochromatin as seen by the removal or addition of a copy of the Y chromosome or deletion of 2R region. *, **, and *** on the error bars denote statistical significance (P < 0.05, P < 0.01, and P < 0.001, respectively) of the changes in the relative expression levels as determined by the student's t.test (two-tailed, unequal variance.

A)

y1/Dp(1;Y)Bs								
Gene Name	Type of Gene	Flies Age	X/O/XY Males	Change in Relative Expression Level	XX/XXY Females	Change in Relative Expression Level		
Cht3	Heterochromatin	60 days	1.26	Increased**	0.14	Decreased***		
lt	Heterochromatin	60 days	1.75	Increased	0.16	Decreased		
CG17715	Heterochromatin	60 days	1.22	Increased	0.33	Decreased**		
Spf45	Heterochromatin	60 days	0.79	Decreased	0.21	Decreased		
rl	Heterochromatin	60 days	0.10	Decreased**	0.74	Decreased***		
Yeti	Heterochromatin	60 days	0.12	Decreased*	0.43	Decreased		
Parp	Heterochromatin	60 days	N/A	N/A	2.22	Increased		
RpL5	Heterochromatin	60 days	N/A	N/A	0.11	Decreased		
Sod1	Aging gene	60 days	2.88	Increased*	0.48	Decreased		
Sod2	Aging gene	60 days	3.01	Increased*	0.13	Decreased***		
Муо	Aging gene	60 days	0.10	Decreased**	8.86	Increased***		
Sirt2	Aging gene	60 days	0.29	Decreased**	3.23	Increased**		

B)

Df(2R)Ms2-10/CyO, S / ry5+							
Gene Name	Type of Gene	Flies Age	Males Expression Rtio	Change in Relative Expression Level	Females Expression Ratio	Change in Relative Expression Level	
Cht3	Heterochromatin	20 days	0.70	Decreased***	N/A	N/A	
lt	Heterochromatin	20 days	0.93	No Change	N/A	N/A	
CG17715	Heterochromatin	20 days	0.89	Decreased	0.56	Decreased	
Spf45	Heterochromatin	20 days	1.64	Increased	0.21	Decreased	
rl	Heterochromatin	20 days	0.57	Decreased***	1.14	Increased	
Yeti	Heterochromatin	20 days	0.26	Decreased***	1.84	Increased*	
Parp	Heterochromatin	20 days	1.73	Increased**	9.54	Increased	
RpL5	Heterochromatin	20 days	1.55	Increased	6.72	Increased*	
Sod1	Aging gene	20 days	2.45	Increased*	0.89	Decreased	
Sod2	Aging gene	20 days	3.09	Increased**	1.14	Increased	
Myo	Aging gene	20 days	0.24	Decreased*	1.96	Increased	
Sirt2	Aging gene	20 days	0.05	Decreased***	0.35	Decreased**	
V. DISCUSSION

The Y chromosome in *Drosophila melanogaster* is almost entirely composed of heterochromatin which includes 20 % of the entire haploid genome in males (Brown et al., 2020). It mainly consists of repetitive satellite DNA, transposable elements (TEs), and ribosomal DNA (rDNA) (Bonaccorsi and Lohe, 1991). Although the Drosophila Y chromosome contains a few functional genetic loci that are mainly involved in male reproduction, the main bulk is transcriptionally inactivated through heterochromatin formation (Elgin and Reuter, 2013). It is well known that changes in the Y chromosome are linked to PEV (Gowen and Gay, 1934) but more recent studies have demonstrated that changes in the Y chromosome copy numbers induce significant changes in the regulation of many genes genome-wide (Brown et al., 2020).

Based on the speculation that males live shorter than females in many vertebrates and invertebrates, including the Drosophila flies due to having a Y chromosome (Tower and Arbeitman, 2009; Yoon et al., 1990; Marias et al., 2018), we predicted a longer lifespan for X/O males and XX females than their XY and XXY counterparts. We also hypothesized that X/O flies would have the longest lifespan followed by XX females which have more heterochromatin than X/O males due to the heterochromatic X chromosome, and the XY males and XXY females with the shortest lifespan. To test our prediction, we used flies from y¹/Dp(1;Y)B^s stock which contained females with yellow phenotype and males carrying a duplication of the Bar Stone marker on the Y chromosome. We applied the principles of classic genetics to create the different karyotypes from the above isogenic stock by taking advantage of meiotic non-disjunction. The average longevity test results showed X/O males and XX females lived significantly longer than XY males, supporting consistency with our prediction and the results of other studies which have shown significantly increased longevity of females compared to male flies in 53 strains out of 89 strains

and 68 species of Drosophila (Yoon et al., 1990). However, XXY females surprisingly had the highest longevity score. In addition, the longer lifespan of XX females than X/O males contradicted our predication as well as the findings from another study with Canton S flies which demonstrated the highest longevity score for X/O males due to the sterility of X/O flies and having the least amount of the repetitive DNA (Brown et al., 2020). Since these karyotypes were the progenies from self-cross of the $y^{1}/Dp(1;Y)B^{s}$ flies, variation in genetic background is ruled out for this contradiction as these flies are isogenic for autosomal chromosomes, and are only different from each other in terms of either the presence or absence of Y chromosome. Moreover, similar longevity results from three different strains of *Drosophila* suggest that the genetic background is not a determining factor in longevity difference, but the presence or absence of the Y chromosome is responsible for this variation in lifespan measurement (Brown et al., 2020). In addition, the absence of active genetic loci on the Y chromosome, except for a few fertility factors, further reduces the genetic variation that might arise from the addition or removal of the Y chromosome among these different karyotypes. However, we can not completely ignore the possible impacts on the longevity of X/O males that might arise from their sterility and the defects in the process of spermatogenesis. Similarly, a small sample size is another key factor that could be responsible for the deviation of longevity results obtained from this study from our predictions and the results of other studies. It is possible to improve our findings from the average lifespan measurement by utilizing a sufficiently larger sample size for each karyotype to achieve a more reliable data analysis, something that has been done with the other longevity studies (Brown et al., 2020). Therefore, the inconclusive results from average lifespan measurement of the different karyotypes suggested an overall increased longevity of X/O males and XX females, as compared to XY males,

supporting literature findings that the removal of Y chromosome enriched in repeat DNA sequences extends longevity (Brown et al., 2020).

In addition, we performed the qRT-PCR analysis of 2-days and 60-days flies from y1/Dp(1;Y)B^s stock to extrapolate the expression profiles of the heterochromatic and euchromatic aging-associated genes. Contrary to our hypothesis that suggested an overall increase in the relative average gene expression levels upon the Y chromosome removal, we surprisingly found overall changes in the expression levels of most of the studied genes in X/O vs XY male, and XX vs XXY female comparisons, a finding that has been supported by another study that has shown the differential patterns of expression for hundreds of genes between these various karyotypes of *D. melanogaster* (Brown et al., 2020). While some genes showed dramatic increases in gene expression in the X/O karyotype relative to XY males, some others were significantly overexpressed in XY males relative to X/O males. The changes in the relative expression levels were also evident for XX and XXY females. Interestingly, the 2-days old X/O males showed a general downregulation of heterochromatic genes and the upregulation of aging genes relative to XY males, but this trend was not observed with XX and XXY females.

Interestingly, the comparison of the ratio of the relative gene expression levels in X/O and XY males (X/O/XY) with that of the XX and XXY females (XX/XXY) in 2-days and 60-days flies suggests where the removal of the Y chromosome might induce the upregulation of a gene in X/O males relative to XY males, adding a copy of Y chromosome might cause the downregulation of the same gene in XXY females relative to the normal XX females. This inconclusive result can be further extrapolated in the future to determine the increased or reduced transcriptional activity of these genes that might be associated with the variations in the heterochromatic levels. Furthermore, comparing the qRT-PCR data from 20-days old Df(2R)MS2-10/CyO, S males and

females with that of the wild-type ry^{5+} males and females, respectively uncovered changes in the expression profiles of most of the genes investigated in this study; some genes were significantly upregulated in the Df(2R)MS2-10/CyO, S flies while some other genes were significantly upregulated in the wild-type ry^{5+} flies.

Therefore, our results from the gene expression analysis demonstrated that changes in the amount of heterochromatin, as depicted in this study by the addition or removal of the Y chromosome that is enriched in repeat sequences or the deletion of 2R region in Df(2R)MS2-10/CyO, S flies, induce overall changes in the expression levels of the heterochromatic and aging-associated genes. Whether the removal of the Y chromosome causes overexpression of either the heterochromatic genes or the aging genes or both remains unclear and requires transcriptomic analysis, such as RNA-Sequencing, to encompass a much broader range of heterochromatic genes as well as aging-associated genes to elucidate a general trend in the gene expression profiles.

Early studies with the modifiers of PEV in *D. melanogaster* have supported the notion that many of these modifiers might have opposing effects depending on the heterochromatineuchromatin context. For example, suppressors of the PEV of euchromatic genes that are inserted into heterochromatin are found to enhance PEV of heterochromatic genes since they encode structural components of heterochromatin that affect the chromatin condensation and are required for the normal function of the heterochromatin genes (Hearn et al., 1991). Further studies have revealed that these modifiers such as Su(var) gene products affect the expression of heterochromatic genes (like *lt*) even in its normal heterochromatic location and in the absence of any variegating rearrangement (Clegg et al., 1998). Previous studies have also shown that changing the amount of heterochromatin affects PEV; duplication of heterochromatic materials generally suppresses PEV whereas the deletion of heterochromatic material enhances PEV (Elgin and Reuter, 2013). Y chromosome, as a large bulk of heterochromatin, poses the same impact on the PEV of the euchromatic genes (Gatti and Pimpinelli, 1992). Considering all these findings, our hypothesis predicted changes in the relative overexpression of the tested heterochromatic genes as well as the age-related genes upon the removal of the Y chromosome. This prediction was based on the findings that Y chromosome polymorphism (changes in the number of repeat sequences within the Y chromosome) affects the global amount of heterochromatin in the genome and, therefore impacts the expression levels of hundreds of genes genome-wide by redistributing heterochromatin proteins such as HP1 and other important chromosomal proteins that are present in the nucleus in limited quantities (Elgin and Reuter, 2013). In other words, the repetitive sequences on the Y chromosome are enriched in heterochromatin proteins and repressive histone modification markers. Y chromosome acts as a "heterochromatin sink" which sequesters the core components of heterochromatin machinery such as the structural proteins or histone-modifying enzymes that play important roles in heterochromatin formation and its maintenance. The result is the depletion of these heterochromatin proteins from their binding sites, and suppression of the other repetitive regions of the genome due to the presence of the Y chromosome (Brown et al., 2020). The protein-coding genes on the Y chromosome are only expressed in male germ cells and are absent from somatic cells of adult tissues. Therefore, the effects of variation in the amount of repetitive DNA on the Y chromosome or changes in the copy number of the Y chromosome on the global expression of a large number of genes genome-wide, as seen with XXY females and XY males can be attributed to the sink effect of the Y chromosome which indirectly redistributes heterochromatin components across the genome (Gatti and Pimpinelli, 1992). The heterochromatin sink model assumes that variation in the amount of repetitive DNA changes the levels of heterochromatin formation genome-wide. This means that increasing the levels of repetitive DNA causes decreased levels of heterochromatin components at the repetitive regions because the added repeats sequester the heterochromatin factors that are available to other repetitive DNA sequences in a limited amount. The decrease in the amount of repetitive DNA is expected to have the opposite effect (Brown et al., 2020).

Among the heterochromatin proteins, HP1 produced by the Su(var)2-5 gene plays a key role in heterochromatin formation and euchromatic gene silencing. While most of HP1 is found in the heterochromatic regions, some forms, such as HP1 γ , are localized at different regions of the euchromatin (James et al., 1989). HP1 causes changes in the variegation of both euchromatic and heterochromatic genes in a dosage-dependent manner (Piacentini et al., 2003). However, contrary to the euchromatic gene silencing role of HP1, recent studies have shown that HP1 positively regulates expression of developmental and heat shock puffs such as Hsp70, pinpointing the multicomplex role of this protein which depends on the chromosomal context (Piacentini et al., 2003). As the genetic studies have shown, the transcriptional activity of heterochromatic genes requires the heterochromatic environment, and HP1 is shown to mediate this transcriptional activity as it is required for heterochromatin formation. In contrast, HP1 is shown to enhance the variegation of euchromatic genes that are placed near the heterochromatin-euchromatin boundary and mediate the silencing of some euchromatic genes in their natural genomic context in the absence of any chromosomal rearrangement (Hwang et al., 2001). It appears that the dynamic activity of HP1 in enhancing PEV, the repression of euchromatic genes, and the induction of heterochromatic genes all depend on the role of HP1 in heterochromatin formation. However, contrary to the repressive role of HP1 in euchromatic gene silencing, recent studies have also linked HP1 activity to the induction of euchromatic gene encoding hsp70 in the larvae of D. melanogaster. It is shown that HP1 is positively associated with the expression of the developmental and heat-shock-induced puffs on polytene chromosomes as these puffs reveal intense gene activity (Piacentini et al., 2003). Therefore, the redistribution of the heterochromatin components, more specifically HP1 protein, is believed to be the main factor that contributes to the differential expression profiles of the heterochromatic and aging-associated genes among different karyotypes of *D. melanogaster* that either lack the Y chromosome or contain an extra copy of it.

VI. CONCLUSION AND PERSPECTIVES

In conclusion, we speculated that variation in the heterochromatin levels as depicted by changes in the copy number of the Y chromosome in this study is not only associated with the differences in the average lifespan measurement of the different karyotypes of $y^1/Dp(1;Y)B^s$ stock but it is also responsible for the relative differential gene expression profiles of these karyotypes as well as the Df(2R)MS2-10/CyO, S males and females as compared to the wild-type ry⁵⁺ counterparts. This variation in heterochromatin levels is assumed to induce the redistribution of the heterochromatin proteins like HP1 which could be linked to the observed differences in the longevity and the differential expression profiles of many genes genome-wide. Future studies can employ RNA-Seq to consider a genome-wide analysis of the known heterochromatic and aging-associated genes in *D. melanogaster* to reveal more conclusive results with the differential gene expression profiles in the investigated karyotypes.

This study highlights the important role of heterochromatin as a key component of all higher eukaryotic cells in the aging process through the regulation of heterochromatic and aging-associated genes in *D. melanogaster*. It also contributes to the significance of heterochromatin in the literature, a topic that has received little appreciation despite the long history of heterochromatin discovery. Moreover, our study uncovered a possible link between changes in the gene expression pattern and the differences in the longevity of flies as the result of changes in heterochromatin levels. Future studies can explore the molecular mechanisms of this association to reveal the factors that determine the longevity of flies when the transcriptional activity of the genes alters as the result of variation in heterochromatin levels.

REFEERENCES

In-Text References

Adams, M. D., Celniker, S. E., Holt, R. A., Evans, C. A., Gocayne, J. D., Amanatides, P. G., Scherer, S. E., Li, P. W., Hoskins, R. A., Galle, R. F., George, R. A., Lewis, S. E., Richards, S., Ashburner, M., Henderson, S. N., Sutton, G. G., Wortman, J. R., Yandell, M. D., Zhang, Q., Chen, L. X., ... Venter, J. C. (2000). The genome sequence of Drosophila melanogaster. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 287(5461), 2185–2195. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.287.5461.2185

Allshire, R. C., Madhani, H. D. (2018). Ten principles of heterochromatin formation and function. *Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology*, *19*(4), 229–244. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm.2017.119

Ashok, B. T., Ali, R. (1999). The aging paradox: free radical theory of aging. *Experimental gerontology*, *34*(3), 293–303. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0531-5565(99)00005-4</u>.

Bannister, A. J., Zegerman, P., Partridge, J. F., Miska, E. A., Thomas, J. O., Allshire, R. C., Kouzarides, T. (2001). Selective recognition of methylated lysine 9 on histone H3 by the HP1 chromo domain. *Nature*, *410*(6824), 120–124. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/35065138</u>.

Belyaeva, E. S., Koryakov, D. E., Pokholkova, G. V., Demakova, O. V., Zhimulev, I. F. (1997). Cytological study of the brown dominant position effect. *Chromosoma*, *106*(2), 124–132. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004120050232.

Benayoun, B. A., Pollina, E. A., Brunet, A. (2015). Epigenetic regulation of ageing: linking environmental inputs to genomic stability. *Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology*, *16*(10), 593–610. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm4048</u>.

Bernard, P., Maure, J. F., Partridge, J. F., Genier, S., Javerzat, J. P., Allshire, R. C. (2001). Requirement of heterochromatin for cohesion at centromeres. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 294(5551), 2539–2542. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1064027

Bonaccorsi, S., Lohe, A. (1991). Fine mapping of satellite DNA sequences along the Y chromosome of Drosophila melanogaster: relationships between satellite sequences and fertility factors. *Genetics*, *129*(1), 177–189.

Boumil, R. M., Lee, J. T. (2001). Forty years of decoding the silence in X-chromosome inactivation. *Human molecular genetics*, *10*(20), 2225–2232. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/10.20.2225.

Brandt, A., Krohne, G., Grosshans, J. (2008). The farnesylated nuclear proteins KUGELKERN and LAMIN B promote aging-like phenotypes in Drosophila flies. *Aging cell*, 7(4), 541–551. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1474-9726.2008.00406.x. Bridges, C. B. (1916). Non-Disjunction as Proof of the Chromosome Theory of Heredity. *Genetics*, *1*(1), 1–52.

Brown, S.W., 1966. Heterochromatin. Science 151: 417-425.

Brown, E.J., Nguyen, A.H., Bachtrog, D. (2020). The Drosophila Y Chromosome Affects Heterochromatin Integrity Genome-Wide. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, *37*, 2808 - 2824.

Brown, E. J., Nguyen, A. H., Bachtrog, D. (2020). The Y chromosome may contribute to sexspecific ageing in Drosophila. *Nature ecology & evolution*, 4(6), 853–862. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-020-1179-5</u>.

Cattanach, B. M. (1974). Position effect variegation in the mouse. *Genetical research*, 23(3), 291–306. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0016672300014932

Cheutin, T., McNairn, A., Jenuwein, T., Gilbert, D., Singh, P., Misteli, T. (2003). Maintenance of Stable Heterochromatin Domains by Dynamic HP1 Binding. *Science*, *299*(5607), 721-725. Retrieved July 7, 2021, from http://www.jstor.org/stable/3833449.

Clegg, N. J., Honda, B. M., Whitehead, I. P., Grigliatti, T. A., Wakimoto, B., Brock, H. W., Lloyd, V. K., Sinclair, D. A. (1998). Suppressors of position-effect variegation in Drosophila melanogaster affect expression of the heterochromatic gene light in the absence of a chromosome rearrangement. *Genome*, *41*(4), 495–503.

Coulthard, A. B., Alm, C., Cealiac, I., Sinclair, D. A., Honda, B. M., Rossi, F., Dimitri, P., & Hilliker, A. J. (2010). Essential loci in centromeric heterochromatin of Drosophila melanogaster. I: the right arm of chromosome 2. *Genetics*, *185*(2), 479–495. https://doi.org/10.1534/genetics.110.117259.

Cryderman, D. E., Grade, S. K., Li, Y., Fanti, L., Pimpinelli, S., Wallrath, L. L. (2005). Role of Drosophila HP1 in euchromatic gene expression. *Developmental dynamics : an official publication of the American Association of Anatomists*, 232(3), 767–774. https://doi.org/10.1002/dvdy.20310.

Demerec, M., Slizynska, H. (1937). Mottled White 258-18 of Drosophila Melanogaster. *Genetics*, 22(6), 641–649.

Dillon, N. (2004). Heterochromatin structure and function. *Biology of the cell*, *96*(8), 631–637. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biolcel.2004.06.003.

Dorer, D. R., Henikoff, S. (1997). Transgene repeat arrays interact with distant heterochromatin and cause silencing in cis and trans. *Genetics*, *147*(3), 1181–1190.

Eberl, D. F., Duyf, B. J., Hilliker, A. J. (1993). The role of heterochromatin in the expression of a heterochromatic gene, the rolled locus of Drosophila melanogaster. *Genetics*, *134*(1), 277–292.

Eissenberg, J.C., Elgin, S. (2000). The HP1 protein family: getting a grip on chromatin. Current opinion in genetics & development, 10 2, 204-10.

Eissenberg, J. C., Hilliker, A. J. (2000). Introduction. Shedding new light on the dark corners of the nucleus. *Genetica*, *109*(1-2), 3–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1026545800287</u>.

Eissenberg, J. C., Hilliker, A. J. (2000). Versatility of conviction: heterochromatin as both a repressor and an activator of transcription. *Genetica*, *109*(1-2), 19–24. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1026544717126.

Eissenberg, J. C., Morris, G. D., Reuter, G., Hartnett, T. (1992). The heterochromatin-associated protein HP-1 is an essential protein in Drosophila with dosage-dependent effects on position-effect variegation. *Genetics*, *131*(2), 345–352.

Ekwall, K., Nimmo, E. R., Javerzat, J. P., Borgstrøm, B., Egel, R., Cranston, G., Allshire, R. (1996). Mutations in the fission yeast silencing factors clr4+ and rik1+ disrupt the localisation of the chromo domain protein Swi6p and impair centromere function. *Journal of cell science*, *109* (*Pt 11*), 2637–2648.

Elgin, S. C. (1996). Heterochromatin and gene regulation in Drosophila. *Current opinion in genetics & development*, 6(2), 193–202. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0959-437x(96)80050-5.

Elgin, S. C., Reuter, G. (2013). Position-effect variegation, heterochromatin formation, and gene silencing in Drosophila. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology*, *5*(8), a017780. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a017780.

Eskeland, R., Eberharter, A., Imhof, A. (2007). HP1 binding to chromatin methylated at H3K9 is enhanced by auxiliary factors. *Molecular and cellular biology*, 27(2), 453–465. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.01576-06

Fanti, L., Pimpinelli, S. (2008). HP1: a functionally multifaceted protein. *Current opinion in genetics & development*, *18*(2), 169–174. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gde.2008.01.009</u>.

Festenstein, R., Pagakis, S. N., Hiragami, K., Lyon, D., Verreault, A., Sekkali, B., Kioussis, D. (2003). Modulation of heterochromatin protein 1 dynamics in primary Mammalian cells. *Science* (*New York, N.Y.*), 299(5607), 719–721. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1078694</u>.

Folco, H. D., Pidoux, A. L., Urano, T., Allshire, R. C. (2008). Heterochromatin and RNAi are required to establish CENP-A chromatin at centromeres. *Science (New York, N.Y.), 319*(5859), 94–97. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1150944

Franceschi, C., Valensin, S., Bonafè, M., Paolisso, G., Yashin, A. I., Monti, D., De Benedictis, G. (2000). The network and the remodeling theories of aging: historical background and new perspectives. *Experimental gerontology*, *35*(6-7), 879–896. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0531-5565(00)00172-8</u>.

Gatti, M., Pimpinelli, S. (1992). Functional elements in Drosophila melanogaster heterochromatin. *Annual review of genetics*, 26, 239–275. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ge.26.120192.001323

Gavrilov, L. A., Gavrilova, N. S. (2002). Evolutionary theories of aging and longevity. *TheScientificWorldJournal*, 2, 339–356. <u>https://doi.org/10.1100/tsw.2002.96</u>.

Goll, M. G., Bestor, T. H. (2005). Eukaryotic cytosine methyltransferases. *Annual review of biochemistry*, 74, 481–514. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.biochem.74.010904.153721

Greil, F., Kraan, I.V., Delrow, J., Smothers, J., Wit, E.D., Bussemaker, H., Driel, R.V., Henikoff, S., Steensel, B.V. (2003). Distinct HP1 and Su(var)3-9 complexes bind to sets of developmentally coexpressed genes depending on chromosomal location. Genes & development, 17 22, 2825-38.

Grewal, S. I., Bonaduce, M. J., Klar, A. J. (1998). Histone deacetylase homologs regulate epigenetic inheritance of transcriptional silencing and chromosome segregation in fission yeast. *Genetics*, *150*(2), 563–576.

Grewal, S. I., Elgin, S. C. (2002). Heterochromatin: new possibilities for the inheritance of structure. *Current opinion in genetics & development*, *12*(2), 178–187. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0959-437x(02)00284-8.

Grewal, S. I., Jia, S. (2007). Heterochromatin revisited. *Nature reviews. Genetics*, 8(1), 35–46. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg2008.

Grishok, A., Sinskey, J. L., Sharp, P. A. (2005). Transcriptional silencing of a transgene by RNAi in the soma of C. elegans. *Genes & development*, *19*(6), 683–696. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1247705

Haithcock, E., Dayani, Y., Neufeld, E., Zahand, A. J., Feinstein, N., Mattout, A., Gruenbaum, Y., Liu, J. (2005). Age-related changes of nuclear architecture in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *102*(46), 16690–16695. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0506955102

Hall, I. M., Grewal, S. I. (2003). in RNAi: A Guide To Gene Silencing (ed. Hannon, G. J.) 205–232 (Cold Spring Harbor Press, Cold Spring Harbor).

Hall, I. M., Shankaranarayana, G. D., Noma, K., Ayoub, N., Cohen, A., Grewal, S. I. (2002). Establishment and maintenance of a heterochromatin domain. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 297(5590), 2232–2237. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1076466

Harman D. 2003. The free radical theory of aging. Antioxid Redox Signal, 5:557–61.

Hearn, M. G., Hedrick, A., Grigliatti, T. A., & Wakimoto, B. T. (1991). The effect of modifiers of position-effect variegation on the variegation of heterochromatic genes of Drosophila melanogaster. *Genetics*, *128*(4), 785–797.

Hayflick, L., Moorhead, P. S. (1961). The serial cultivation of human diploid cell strains. *Experimental cell research*, 25, 585–621. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-4827(61)90192-6</u>.

Heitz, E. (1928). Das heterochromatin der moose. I. Jahrb.Wiss. Botanik 69, 762–818.

 Hennig,
 W.
 (1999).
 Heterochromatin. Chromosoma 108, 1–9.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s004120050346
 Heterochromatin. Chromosoma 108, 1–9.

Hessler, A. Y. (1958). V-type position effects at the light locus in Drosophila. Genetics 43:395-403.

Hilliker A. J. (1976). Genetic analysis of the centromeric heterochromatin of chromosome 2 of Drosophila melanogaster: deficiency mapping of EMS-induced lethal complementation groups. *Genetics*, 83(4), 765–782.

Hilliker, A. J., Appels, R., Schalet, A. (1980). The genetic analysis of D. melanogaster heterochromatin. *Cell*, 21(3), 607–619. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(80)90424-9</u>

Hilliker, A. J., Appels, R. (1982). Pleiotropic effects associated with the deletion of heterochromatin surrounding rDNA on the X chromosome of Drosophila. *Chromosoma*, 86(4), 469–490. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00330122

Hilliker, A. J., Appels, R. (1989). The arrangement of interphase chromosomes: structural and functional aspects. *Experimental cell research*, *185*(2), 267–318. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-4827(89)90301-7</u>

Hilliker, A. J., Holm, D. G. (1975). Genetic analysis of the proximal region of chromosome 2 of Drosophila melanogaster. I. Detachment products of compound autosomes. *Genetics*, *81*(4), 705–721.

Holzenberger, M., Dupont, J., Ducos, B., Leneuve, P., Géloën, A., Even, P. C., Cervera, P., Le Bouc, Y. (2003). IGF-1 receptor regulates lifespan and resistance to oxidative stress in mice. *Nature*, *421*(6919), 182–187. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature01298

Huisinga, K. L., Brower-Toland, B., Elgin, S. C. (2006). The contradictory definitions of heterochromatin: transcription and silencing. *Chromosoma*, *115*(2), 110–122. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00412-006-0052-x

Hwang, K. K., Eissenberg, J. C., & Worman, H. J. (2001). Transcriptional repression of euchromatic genes by Drosophila heterochromatin protein 1 and histone modifiers. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 98(20), 11423–11427. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.211303598.

James, T. C., Eissenberg, J. C., Craig, C., Dietrich, V., Hobson, A., Elgin, S. C. (1989). Distribution patterns of HP1, a heterochromatin-associated nonhistone chromosomal protein of Drosophila. *European journal of cell biology*, *50*(1), 170–180.

James, T. C., Elgin, S. C. (1986). Identification of a nonhistone chromosomal protein associated with heterochromatin in Drosophila melanogaster and its gene. *Molecular and cellular biology*, *6*(11), 3862–3872. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.6.11.3862-3872.1986.

Janssen, A., Colmenares, S. U., Karpen, G. H. (2018). Heterochromatin: Guardian of the Genome. *Annual review of cell and developmental biology*, *34*, 265–288. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-cellbio-100617-062653.

Jin, K. (2010). Modern Biological Theories of Aging. Aging and disease, 1(2), 72–74.

Kang, J., Chaudhary, J., Dong, H., Kim, S., Brautigam, C. A., Yu, H. (2011). Mitotic centromeric targeting of HP1 and its binding to Sgo1 are dispensable for sister-chromatid cohesion in human cells. *Molecular biology of the cell*, 22(8), 1181–1190. https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.E11-01-0009.

Kennedy, B.K., Kaeberlein, M., and Partridge, L. (2017). Small metazoans. (The Gerontological Society of America), pp. 84–112.

Kim, S., Villeponteau, B., & Jazwinski, S. M. (1996). Effect of replicative age on transcriptional silencing near telomeres in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*, 219(2), 370–376. https://doi.org/10.1006/bbrc.1996.0240

Knight, J.A. (1995) 'The Process and Theories of Aging', ANNALS O F CLINICAL AND LABORATORY SCIEN CE, 25(1), pp. 1-12.

Kowald, A., Kirkwood, T. B. (1996). A network theory of ageing: the interactions of defective mitochondria, aberrant proteins, free radicals and scavengers in the ageing process. *Mutation research*, *316*(5-6), 209–236. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0921-8734(96)90005-3

Larson, K., Yan, S.J., Tsurumi, A., Liu, J., Zhou, J., Gaur, K., Guo, D., Eickbush, T.H., Li, W.X. (2012). Heterochromatin formation promotes longevity and represses ribosomal RNA synthesis. PLoS Genet.8, e1002473.

Locke, J., Kotarski, M. A., Tartof, K. D. (1988). Dosage-dependent modifiers of position effect variegation in Drosophila and a mass action model that explains their effect. Genetics 120: 181-198.

Lohe, A. R., Hilliker, A. J., Roberts, P. A. (1993). Mapping simple repeated DNA sequences in heterochromatin of Drosophila melanogaster. *Genetics*, *134*(4), 1149–1174.

Lu, B. Y., Emtage, P. C., Duyf, B. J., Hilliker, A. J. Eissenberg, J. C. Heterochromatin protein 1 is required for the normal expression of two heterochromatin genes in Drosophila. Genetics 155, 699–708 (2000).

Lü, J., Yang, C., Zhang, Y., Pan, H. (2018). Selection of Reference Genes for the Normalization of RT-qPCR Data in Gene Expression Studies in Insects: A Systematic Review. *Frontiers in physiology*, *9*, 1560. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2018.01560

Maison, C., Almouzni, G. (2004). HP1 and the dynamics of heterochromatin maintenance. *Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology*, *5*(4), 296–304. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm1355.

Marais, G., Gaillard, J. M., Vieira, C., Plotton, I., Sanlaville, D., Gueyffier, F., Lemaitre, J. F. (2018). Sex gap in aging and longevity: can sex chromosomes play a role?. *Biology of sex differences*, 9(1), 33. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13293-018-0181-y.

Medvedev Z. A. (1990). An attempt at a rational classification of theories of ageing. *Biological reviews of the Cambridge Philosophical Society*, 65(3), 375–398. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-185x.1990.tb01428.x</u>

Mette, M. F., Aufsatz, W., van der Winden, J., Matzke, M. A., Matzke, A. J. (2000). Transcriptional silencing and promoter methylation triggered by double-stranded RNA. *The EMBO journal*, *19*(19), 5194–5201. https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/19.19.5194

Nakayama, J., Rice, J. C., Strahl, B. D., Allis, C. D., Grewal, S. I. (2001). Role of histone H3 lysine 9 methylation in epigenetic control of heterochromatin assembly. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 292(5514), 110–113. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1060118</u>.

Pal-Bhadra, M., Leibovitch, B. A., Gandhi, S. G., Chikka, M. R., Bhadra, U., Birchler, J. A., Elgin, S. C. (2004). Heterochromatic silencing and HP1 localization in Drosophila are dependent on the RNAi machinery. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, *303*(5658), 669–672. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1092653.

Peters, A. H., Kubicek, S., Mechtler, K., O'Sullivan, R. J., Derijck, A. A., Perez-Burgos, L., Kohlmaier, A., Opravil, S., Tachibana, M., Shinkai, Y., Martens, J. H., Jenuwein, T. (2003). Partitioning and plasticity of repressive histone methylation states in mammalian chromatin. *Molecular cell*, *12*(6), 1577–1589. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1097-2765(03)00477-5.

Piacentini, L., Fanti, L., Berloco, M., Perrini, B., Pimpinelli, S. (2003). Heterochromatin protein 1 (HP1) is associated with induced gene expression in Drosophila euchromatin. *The Journal of cell biology*, *161*(4), 707–714. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200303012

Piper, M., Partridge, L. (2018). Drosophila as a model for ageing. *Biochimica et biophysica acta. Molecular basis of disease*, *1864*(9 Pt A), 2707–2717. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2017.09.016

Plath, K., Fang, J., Mlynarczyk-Evans, S., Cao, R., Worringer, K., Wang, H., De la Cruz, C., Otte, A., Panning, B., Zhang, Y. (2003). Role of histone H3 lysine 27 methylation in X inactivation. Science 300, 131–135.

Rattan S. I. (2006). Theories of biological aging: genes, proteins, and free radicals. *Free radical research*, 40(12), 1230–1238. https://doi.org/10.1080/10715760600911303.

Rea, S., Eisenhaber, F., O'Carroll, D., Strahl, B., Sun, Z., Schmid, M., Opravil, S., Mechtler, K., Ponting, C., Allis, C., Jenuwein, T. (2000). Regulation of chromatin structure by site-specific histone H3 methyltransferases. Nature 406, 593–599.

Saksouk, N., Simboeck, E. Déjardin, J. (20015). Constitutive heterochromatin formation and transcription in mammals. *Epigenetics & Chromatin* **8**, 3. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1756-8935-8-3</u>

Scaffidi, P., Misteli, T. (2005). Reversal of the cellular phenotype in the premature aging disease Hutchinson-Gilford progeria syndrome. *Nature Medicine*, 11, 440-445.

Schotta, G., Ebert, A., Krauss, V., Fischer, A., Hoffmann, J., Rea, S., Jenuwein, T., Dorn, R., Reuter, G. (2002). Central role of Drosophila SU(VAR)3-9 in histone H3-K9 methylation and heterochromatic gene silencing. *The EMBO journal*, *21*(5), 1121–1131. https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/21.5.1121.

Schultz, J. (1936). Variegation in Drosophila and the inert chromosome regions. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., 22:27-33.

Schultz, J., Dobzhansky, T. (1934). The relation of a dominant eye color in D. melanogaster to the associated chromosome rearrangement. Genetics 19:344- 64.

Sun, F. L., Cuaycong, M. H., Elgin, S. C. (2001). Long-range nucleosome ordering is associated with gene silencing in Drosophila melanogaster pericentric heterochromatin. *Molecular and cellular biology*, *21*(8), 2867–2879. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.21.8.2867-2879.2001</u>.

Swanson, E. C., Manning, B., Zhang, H., Lawrence, J. B. (2013). Higher-order unfolding of satellite heterochromatin is a consistent and early event in cell senescence. *The Journal of cell biology*, 203(6), 929–942. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201306073

Syrzycka, M., Hallson, G., Fitzpatrick, K. A., Kim, I., Cotsworth, S., Hollebakken, R. E., Simonetto, K., Yang, L., Luongo, S., Beja, K., Coulthard, A. B., Hilliker, A. J., Sinclair, D. A., Honda, B. M. (2019). Genetic and Molecular Analysis of Essential Genes in Centromeric Heterochromatin of the Left Arm of Chromosome 3 in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *G3 (Bethesda, Md.)*, *9*(5), 1581–1595. <u>https://doi.org/10.1534/g3.119.0003</u>

Tower, J., Arbeitman, M. (2009). The genetics of gender and life span. *Journal of biology*, 8(4), 38. https://doi.org/10.1186/jbiol141

Tsurumi, A., Li, W. X. (2012). Global heterochromatin loss: a unifying theory of aging?. *Epigenetics*, 7(7), 680–688. https://doi.org/10.4161/epi.20540

Villeponteau, B. (1997). The heterochromatin loss model of aging. *Experimental gerontology*, 32(4-5), 383–394. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0531-5565(96)00155-6

Volpe, T., Schramke, V., Hamilton, G. L., White, S. A., Teng, G., Martienssen, R. A., Allshire, R. C. (2003). RNA interference is required for normal centromere function in fission yeast. *Chromosome research : an international journal on the molecular, supramolecular and evolutionary aspects of chromosome biology*, *11*(2), 137–146. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1022815931524

Wakimoto, B. T. (1998). Beyond the nucleosome: epigenetic aspects of position-effect variegation in Drosophila. *Cell*, *93*(3), 321–324. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0092-8674(00)81159-9.

Wakimoto, B. T., Hearn, M. G. (1990). The effects of chromosome rearrangements on the expression of heterochromatic genes in Chromosome 2L of D. melanogaster. Genetics 125: 141-5.

Wallrath L. L. (1998). Unfolding the mysteries of heterochromatin. *Current opinion in genetics & development*, 8(2), 147–153. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0959-437x(98)80135-4.

Wallrath, L. L., Elgin, S. C. (1995). Position effect variegation in Drosophila is associated with an altered chromatin structure. *Genes & development*, 9(10), 1263–1277. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.9.10.1263.

Wang, J., Jia, S. T., Jia, S. (2016). New Insights into the Regulation of Heterochromatin. *Trends in genetics: TIG*, *32*(5), 284–294. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tig.2016.02.005</u>.

Wareham, K. A., Lyon, M. F., Glenister, P. H., Williams, E. D. (1987). Age related reactivation of an X-linked gene. *Nature*, *327*(6124), 725–727. https://doi.org/10.1038/327725a0

Weiler, K. S., Wakimoto, B. T. (1995). Heterochromatin and gene expression in Drosophila. *Annual review of genetics*, 29, 577–605. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ge.29.120195.003045

Weinert, B. T., Timiras, P. S. (2003). Invited review: Theories of aging. *Journal of applied physiology* (*Bethesda*, *Md*. : 1985), 95(4), 1706–1716. https://doi.org/10.1152/japplphysiol.00288.2003

Yoon, J.S., Gagen, K., Zhu, D. (1990). Longevity of 68 species of Drosophila. *Ohio Journal of Science*, 90, 16-32.

Zeng, W., Ball, A. R., Jr, Yokomori, K. (2010). HP1: heterochromatin binding proteins working the genome. *Epigenetics*, *5*(4), 287–292. <u>https://doi.org/10.4161/epi.5.4.11683</u>

Zhang, W., Li, J., Suzuki, K., Qu, J., Wang, P., Zhou, J., Liu, X., Ren, R., Xu, X., Ocampo, A., Yuan, T., Yang, J., Li, Y., Shi, L., Guan, D., Pan, H., Duan, S., Ding, Z., Li, M., Yi, F., ... Belmonte, J. C. (2015). Aging stem cells. A Werner syndrome stem cell model unveils heterochromatin alterations as a driver of human aging. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, *348*(6239), 1160–1163. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaa1356

Zofall, M., Grewal, S. I. (2006). Swi6/HP1 recruits a JmjC domain protein to facilitate transcription of heterochromatic repeats. *Molecular cell*, 22(5), 681–692. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2006.05.010.

Tables References

1. de la Vega, H., Specht, C. A., Liu, Y., Robbins, P. W. (1998). Chitinases are a multi-gene family in Aedes, Anopheles and Drosophila. *Insect molecular biology*, *7*(3), 233–239. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2583.1998.00065.x

2. McCollum, A. M., Ganko, E. W., Barrass, P. A., Rodriguez, J. M., & McDonald, J. F. (2002). Evidence for the adaptive significance of an LTR retrotransposon sequence in a Drosophila heterochromatic gene. *BMC evolutionary biology*, *2*, 5. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2148-2-5

3. Devlin RH, Bingham B, Wakimoto BT. The organization and expression of the light gene, a heterochromatic gene of Drosophila melanogaster. Genetics. 1990 May;125(1):129-40. PMID: 2111263; PMCID: PMC1203994.

4. Chaouki, A.S., Salz, H.K. (2006). Drosophila SPF45: A Bifunctional Protein with Roles in Both Splicing and DNA Repair. PLoS Genet. 2(12): e178. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.0020178. PMID: 17154718; PMCID: PMC1687153.

5. Huangfu, J., Liu, J., Sun, Z., Wang, M., Jiang, Y., Chen, Z.Y., Chen, F. (2013). Antiaging Effects of Astaxanthin-Rich Alga Haematococcus pluvialis on Fruit Flies under Oxidative Stress. J. Agric. Food Chem. 61(32): 7800-7804.

6. Ruan, H., Wu, C.F. (2008). Social interaction-mediated lifespan extension of Drosophila Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase mutants. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 105(21): 7506-7510.

7. Lim, H.Y., Wang, W., Chen, J., Ocorr, K., Bodmer, R. (2014). ROS Regulate Cardiac Function via a Distinct Paracrine Mechanism. Cell Rep. 7(1): 35-44.

8. Curtis, C., Landis, G.N., Folk, D., Wehr, N.B., Hoe, N., Waskar, M., Abdueva, D., Skvortsov, D., Ford, D., Luu, A., Badrinath, A., Levine, R.L., Bradley, T.J., Tavaré, S., Tower, J. (2007). Transcriptional profiling of MnSOD-mediated lifespan extension in Drosophila reveals a species-general network of aging and metabolic genes. Genome Biol. 8(12): R262.

9. Chung H.L., Wangler M.F., Marcogliese P.C., Jo J., Ravenscroft T.A., Zuo Z., Duraine L., Sadeghzadeh S., Li-Kroeger D., Schmidt R.E., Pestronk A., Rosenfeld J.A., Burrage L., Herndon M.J., Chen S., Shillington A., Vawter-Lee M., Hopkin R. Bellen H.J. (2003). Loss or Gain of Function Mutations in ACOX1 Cause Axonal Loss via Different Mechanisms. Neuron 106:589.e6-606.e6(2020) [PubMed] [Europe PMC]

10._Helfand S.L., Rogina B. (2003). Molecular genetics of aging in the fly: is this the end of the beginning? Bioessays 25:134-141(2003) [PubMed] [Europe PMC]

11. Giannakou, M.E., Goss, M., Junger, M.A., Hafen, E., Leevers, S.J., Partridge, L. (2004). Longlived Drosophila with overexpressed dFOXO in adult fat body. Science 305(5682): 361.

12. Junger, M.A., Rintelen, F., Stocker, H., Wasserman, J.D., Vegh, M., Radimerski, T., Greenberg, M.E., Hafen, E. (2003). The Drosophila Forkhead transcription factor FOXO mediates the reduction in cell number associated with reduced insulin signaling. J. Biol. 2(3): 20.

13. Zhang, W., Thompson, B.J., Hietakangas, V., Cohen, S.M. (2011). MAPK/ERK Signaling Regulates Insulin Sensitivity to Control Glucose Metabolism in Drosophila. PLoS Genet. 7(12): e1002429.

14. Langerak, S., Kim, M.J., Lamberg, H., Godinez, M., Main, M., Winslow, L., O'Connor, M.B., Zhu, C.C. (2018). The Drosophila TGF-beta/Activin-like ligands Dawdle and Myoglianin appear to modulate adult lifespan through regulation of 26S proteasome function in adult muscle. Biol. Open 7(4): bio029454.

15. Feller, C., Forné, I., Imhof, A., Becker, P.B. (2015). Global and specific responses of the histone acetylome to systematic perturbation. Mol. Cell 57(3): 559-571.

16. Kusama, S., Ueda, R., Suda, T., Nishihara, S., Matsuura, E.T. (2006). Involvement of Drosophila Sir2-like genes in the regulation of life span. Genes & Genet. Systems 81(5): 341-348.

17. Brunner, D., Oellers, N., Szabad, J., Biggs, W.H., Zipursky, S.L., Hafen, E. (1994). A gain-offunction mutation in Drosophila MAP kinase activates multiple receptor tyrosine kinase signaling pathways. Cell 76(5): 875-888.

18. Slack, C., Alic, N., Foley, A., Cabecinha, M., Hoddinott, M.P., Partridge, L. (2015). The Ras-Erk-ETS-Signaling Pathway Is a Drug Target for Longevity. Cell 162(1): 72-83.

19. Hilliker, A. J. (1976). Genetic analysis of the centromeric heterochromatin of chromosome 2 of *Drosophila melanogaster*: deficiency mapping of EMS-induced lethal complementation groups. *Genetics* 83, 765–782.

20. Messina, G., Damia, E., Fanti, L., Atterrato, M.T., Celauro, E., Mariotti, F.R., Accardo, M.C., Walther, M., Vernì, F., Picchioni, D., Moschetti, R., Caizzi, R., Piacentini, L., Cenci, G., Giordano, E., Dimitri, P. (2014). Yeti, an essential Drosophila melanogaster gene, encodes a protein required for chromatin organization. J. Cell Sci. 127(11): 2577--2588.

21. Cenci, G., Belloni, G., Dimitri, P. (2003). l(2)41Aa, a heterochromatic gene of Drosophila melanogaster, is required for mitotic and meiotic chromosome condensation. Genet. Res. (Camb.) 81(1): 15-24.

22. Tulin, A., Naumova, N.M., Menon, A.K., Spradling, A.C. (2006). Drosophila poly(ADP-ribose) glycohydrolase mediates chromatin structure and SIR2-dependent silencing. Genetics 172(1): 363-371.

23. Gaudet, P., Livstone, M., Thomas, P. (2011). Gene Ontology annotation inferences using phylogenetic trees. GO Reference Genome Project. Brief. Bioinform. 12(5): 449-462.

24. Zheng, Y., Liu, B., Wang, L., Lei, H., Pulgar Prieto, K.D., Pan, D. (2017). Homeostatic Control of Hpo/MST Kinase Activity through Autophosphorylation-Dependent Recruitment of the STRIPAK PP2A Phosphatase Complex. Cell Rep. 21(12): 3612-3623.

25. Ashton-Beaucage, D., Udell, C.M., Gendron, P., Sahmi, M., Lefrançois, M., Baril, C., Guenier, A.S., Duchaine, J., Lamarre, D., Lemieux, S., Therrien, M. (2014). A Functional Screen Reveals an Extensive Layer of Transcriptional and Splicing Control Underlying RAS/MAPK Signaling in Drosophila. PLoS Biol. 12(3): e1001809.

<u>26.</u> Filer, D., Thompson, M.A., Takhaveev, V., Dobson, A.J., Kotronaki, I., Green, J.W.M., Heinemann, M., Tullet, J.M.A., Alic, N. (2017). RNA polymerase III limits longevity downstream of TORC1. Nature 552(7684): 263-267.

27. Fresán, U., Rodríguez-Sánchez, M.A., Reina, O., Corces, V.G., Espinàs, M.L. (2020). Haspin kinase modulates nuclear architecture and Polycomb-dependent gene silencing. PLoS Genet. 16(8): e1008962.

28. Duncan, R.F., Canvener, D.R., Qu, S. (1995). Heat shock effects on phosphorylation of protein synthesis initiation factor proteins eIF-4E and eIF-2 in Drosophila. Biochemistry 34(9): 2985-2997.

29. Vrailas-Mortimer, A., Del Rivero, T., Mukherjee, S., Nag, S., Gaitanidis, A., Kadas, D., Consoulas, C., Duttaroy, A., Sanyal, S. (2011). A Muscle-Specific p38 MAPK/Mef2/MnSOD Pathway Regulates Stress, Motor Function, and Life Span in Drosophila. Dev. Cell 21(4): 783-795.

30. Kapahi, P., Zid, B.M., Harper, T., Koslover, D., Sapin, V., Benzer, S. (2004). Regulation of lifespan in Drosophila by modulation of genes in the TOR signaling pathway. Curr. Biol. 14(10): 885-890.

31._Gaudet, P., Livstone, M., Thomas, P. (2011). Gene Ontology annotation inferences using phylogenetic trees. GO Reference Genome Project. Brief. Bioinform. 12(5): 449-462.